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Our Vision
Solving tomorrow’s challenges led by knowledge of any location.

Our Mission
Landgate’s mission is to:

Be »  the trusted source of quality and innovative location products and 
services that deliver value for our customers, enable better decision making 
and planning for government, industry and the community and generate 
sufficient returns to sustain steady business growth.

Create »  an innovative and engaging work environment for our staff that 
enables them to excel for our customers.

Lead »  the transformation of the location information sector with our partners 
to deliver economic, social and environmental benefits to Western Australia.

Our Values
Landgate is an organisation of people who act with integrity, respect and 
openness. Our staff work together as one team and collaboratively with our 
partners. Our values include:

Community »  –  
by showing respect and taking responsibility.

Excellence »  –  
in everything we do.

Creativity »  –  
in what we do and how we do it.

Growth and Learning »  –  
by growing our business and developing our people.

Celebration »  –  
by recognising our people and our achievements.

Sustainability »  –  
by contributing to a sustainable environment and providing a sustaining 
work environment.

Our Goals
To be self sustaining and profitable »

Create value for customers  »

Lead the transformation of the location information sector. »

Landgate 2012 Annual Report
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overview of the authority

Geoffrey Hick                       Mike Bradford
Chairman   Chief Executive 

11 September 2012                    11 September 2012

Statement of Compliance 
with the Financial Management Act 2006
For the year ended 30 June 2012 

To the Minister 

Hon Brendon Grylls MLA

Minister for Regional Development; Lands; Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development.

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 

information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report for the Western Australian Land Information 

Authority, trading as Landgate, for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

The report is presented in four sections:

Overview of the Authority;   -

Authority performance;  -

Significant issues and trends; and  -

Disclosures and legal compliance.   -

The Hon Brendon Grylls MLA

Minister for  
Regional Development: 

Lands; Minister Assisting the 
Minister for State Development.
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overview of the authority

Chairman’s Foreword

As Western Australia’s Land Information Authority, Landgate is the trusted primary source of location knowledge for the State. The provision of reliable and accurate 
location-based information is critical to support the strategic priorities of government, and forms the basis for community and business planning.

Landgate has continued to make tangible progress in pursuing its ‘One Business’ philosophy. The aim of the ‘One Business’ initiative is to align Landgate capabilities to 
enhance customer experience through a strong market focus and along the way, better serve the community of Western Australia. 

The past year has presented many challenges for Landgate. We have experienced another year of low levels in property market activity, affecting the Authority’s revenue 
base.  The property market is still operating at considerably lower levels than at the peak of property market activity in 2005/2006.

I am pleased to report that Landgate has responded to these challenges in a disciplined and strategic manner by reducing expenditure, identifying reform initiatives to 
enhance productivity and investing in strategic alliances that are vital for our future growth. As a result of these strategies, we have significantly improved our results and 
invested in our people, offering a number of training and development opportunities. 

We have also lifted our ambitions. We have accepted the challenges of our changed working environment and the opportunities that have been created as a result. These 
include investments in a number of commercial ventures to ensure that the agency’s revenue sources do not rely solely on the property market.

We have finalised a corporate restructure that has streamlined operations, created synergies and developed a more agile and capable workforce. Our learning and 
development programs have continued to help staff embrace change, value our customers and adopt an holistic approach to problem solving.  

A major achievement this year has been State Cabinet’s approval of funding through consolidated funds and the Royalties for Regions program to implement the Location 
Information Strategy for Western Australia from 2012. The program was formally announced in the 2012/13 budget. The strategy will leverage location information to 
make decision making processes more effective, timely and cost effective.

Landgate completed its first five years as a statutory authority under its enabling legislation, the Land Information Authority Act 2006 (the Act), on 31 December 2011.  
Landgate is required to review the effectiveness of the Act’s operations at the end of every five year period. The review, which has now been submitted to the Minister for 
Lands for consideration, provided a great opportunity to assess our performance, acknowledge our achievements and position ourselves to achieve our future strategic 
objectives.  The final report will be tabled in Parliament by the end of the 2012 calendar year.  
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overview of the authority

Chairman’s Foreword - cont.

Landgate is preparing for the introduction of electronic conveyancing. The National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS) is an Australia-wide initiative to create a 
common business system to support the land conveyancing process.  Significant progress has been made on the proposed Electronic Conveyancing National Law and 
consultation on key legal framework documents. NECS is expected to become operational in Western Australia in 2013/14.

I thank the Minister, the Hon. Brendon Grylls MLA for his continuing interest and support for Landgate’s endeavours, particularly the Location Information Strategy. 

I would also like to express thanks and appreciation to all of my fellow Board members for their enthusiastic contributions to the Board.

During the year, Sue Thomas resigned from her position on the Board and has taken up a role as a National e-Conveyancing Development Ltd (NECDL) Board member.  
Sue was an inaugural Landgate Board member who contributed strongly to the achievement of Landgate’s goals.  I thank Sue for her contribution to Landgate and wish 
her well in her future endeavours.

I extend a welcome to our new member, Claire Poll, who joined the Landgate Board in February 2012. Claire has more than 20 years experience delivering legal and 
commercial solutions to companies in Europe, the United States and the Asia Pacific region across a range of industries. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my appreciation to the Chief Executive, Mike Bradford, the Corporate Executive and Landgate staff for their hard work, diligence and 
commitment to the Agency during a challenging period. I look forward to working closely with Mike and the committed team at Landgate during the year ahead.

Geoffrey Hick FCA MAICD
CHAIRMAN
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overview of the authority

Chief Executive’s Foreword

In the 2011/12 financial year, Landgate continued to provide world-leading land information products and services with a focus on delivering for today’s customers, while 
developing tomorrow’s business and positioning for the future. 

Landgate has produced a solid result for the year under continuing tough operating conditions, with the subdued property market and economic uncertainty both 
locally and overseas, exerting pressure on revenue. Despite these challenges, Landgate has remained focused on its customers, identified opportunities to reduce 
expenditure and enhance productivity. The organisation has also invested in two key commercial ventures being earthmine Australia Pty Ltd and National e-Conveyancing 
Development Ltd. Combined, these strategies have greatly improved our results.

Significant progress has been made on the Location Information Strategy (LIS) with Cabinet’s approval of funding. Projects and activities under the LIS Phase 1 Program 
of Work have commenced. These include planning improvements in regional infrastructure and services together with the delivery of the Statutory Approvals Tracking 
System (StATS).  StATS will directly support the development of WA’s resource sector by enabling industry and agencies to track the approvals process for significant 
State projects. 

The Interest Enquiry service has continued to expand as more interest reports have been added to the system. An upgrade project has delivered improved accessibility to 
simplified reports that include two new interests: Local Planning Schemes and Regional Planning Schemes. The Interest Enquiry Industry Reference Group continues to 
provide valuable industry feedback on how best to develop this service, including assistance with defining interests that Landgate should be targeting for Interest Enquiry. 

The inaugural review of Landgate’s enabling legislation has presented a great opportunity to assess Landgate’s performance, recognize its achievements and position 
itself to achieve its future strategic objectives. The Review Report is with the Minister for Lands, Brendon Grylls and the final report is due to be tabled in Parliament later 
this year. 

A new corporate structure to increase sales focus, streamline operations, reduce costs and encourage collaboration in the spirit of Landgate’s ‘One Business’ has been 
finalised. An important element of the restructure was the relocation of all Property and Valuation staff from the city to Landgate’s main office in Midland. 

Strategic partnerships remain important to our future growth. Landgate established its first joint venture company, earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (eA), which commenced 
business on 1 February 2012. eA offers a complete end-to-end solution for collecting 3D street level imagery. With partners Geomatic Technologies, a Victorian-based 
company and earthmine Incorporated of the United States, eA will develop applications and deliver visually impressive and spatially accurate data that will benefit many 
different organisations and businesses. 
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overview of the authority

Chief Executive’s Foreword - cont.

Landgate continues to invest in our people with the introduction of new training and development programs to deliver the necessary changes and skills required to ensure 
a sustainable and commercially viable organisation into the future. 

We are continuing to implement our Aboriginal Employment Strategy.  Aboriginal Cultural Awareness training has been provided for 120 staff with the target of training 
80 per cent of our staff over the next three years. The agency currently employs two full time Aboriginal trainees and is committed to permanent placements for these 
trainees. Landgate is also hosting two Aboriginal school- based trainees from St Brigid’s College. We have developed and implemented an Indigenous mentoring program 
whereby Landgate staff undertake an accredited course in mentoring Indigenous employees. Every Aboriginal employee at Landgate has a mentor.  These activities are 
the critical foundation steps for extending our inclusive and supportive culture.

I thank the Chairman, Mr Geoffrey Hick, and the Landgate Board of Management for their strategic advice and support. I also recognise the efforts of all Landgate staff 
over the past year and look forward to continuing to build Landgate as the trusted source of location knowledge for all West Australians.

 

Mike Bradford BSurv MMngt Stud
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, LANDGATE
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overview of the authority

Agency Snapshot

Landgate is the trading name of the Western Australian Land Information Authority and is a statutory authority 
with commercial powers. Landgate was established under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 (the Act) 
and is accountable to the Minister for Lands.  As part of its establishment, the State Government positioned 
Landgate to be the trusted primary source of the government’s fundamental location information datasets. 

Landgate is founded on the management and provision of location information, and the development of 
commercial products and services. 

These objectives set the framework for Landgate to:

maintain the quality and integrity of the government’s location information systems (including the State’s  »
survey, mapping, titles and valuations functions) 

provide access to location information »

earn a fair return from providing location information services, with a view to sustaining investment in high  »
quality systems and strategic initiatives that benefit the State.

In performing these functions, Landgate is required to be cost effective, act on prudent commercial principles 
and support the sustainable economic, social and environmental development of the State.

In collaboration with stakeholders, Landgate is playing a lead role in the implementation of a Location 
Information Strategy (LIS) for WA. This will realise the value and power of location knowledge for the State by 
vastly improving the access, use and integration of location information across government and industry.

Perth Landgate Office
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overview of the authority

Organisational Structure

Landgate’s organisational structure facilitates integration, collaboration and innovation, improves efficiency and emphasises our customer focus:

Office of the  
Chief Executive
Mike Bradford

Board of Management

Minister for Lands
Hon Brendon Grylls

Business OpportunitiesProperty & Valuations Organisational  
Transformation

Information  
Management

Communications & Marketing

Innovation and Research 
& Development

Registrations
Strategy & PlanningSupplier Performance 

Management

Customer Service

Commercial Services
Location Knowledge & Services

Strategic Reform Programs
Advisory Services

Product Performance

Account Management SLIP & Interest Enquiry
Policy & Legislative Reform

Business & Finance  
PerformanceCommissioner of Titles

WALIS & LIS Project

Facilities & Record  
Services

Project Management  
Office

Business Development 
Jodi CantSales Operations 

Bruce Roberts

Finance, Information & 
Legal Services
John Wreford

Strategy & Reform  
Ian Hyde

Audit & Risk  
Management 

Audit & Risk Management Committee

Marketing & Business Development Committee
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Board of Management 

Landgate’s Board of Management is established under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 (LIAA). The Board is responsible for the performance of the Authority’s 
statutory functions and sets the strategic direction for the Authority.  

The Board performs the following key roles:

In collaboration with the Minister and Corporate Executive, sets the Authority’s strategic direction and budget parameters; »

Monitors and approves major business transactions;  »

Determines appropriate performance measures and monitors the Authority’s performance; »

Oversees strategic risk management; »

Determines strategic policy; »

Oversees strategic risk management; and  »

Oversees the Authority’s system of internal control. »

Comprehensive reports are provided to the Board to enable it to monitor performance. Board meetings are generally held monthly.  In addition to these meetings, 
members of the Board are represented on the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Marketing and Business Development Committee, which are sub-
committees of the Board.

Code of Conduct

The Board’s Code of Conduct is based upon the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics, which is applicable to statutory authorities and government boards.

Changes to the Board

During the 2011/12 financial year Board member Susan Thomas resigned and Claire Poll was appointed in her place.  
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Board of Management - cont.

Geoffrey Hick FCA MAICD
Chairman

Peter Cooke Dip Ag, FAICD
Deputy Chair

Geoffrey Hick joined the Landgate Board in 2009 and was appointed Chairman in 2010.  He is a Chartered Accountant 
and a former partner of Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants. Geoffrey has specialised in providing business 
advice to management for both private and public company boards on a range of matters including finance, taxation, 
property development, business planning and strategy. He is currently a board member of several companies 
including Broome International Airport Group, Roebuck Estate Development and is the Chairman of the Australian 
Neuro-Muscular Research Institute Ltd. He has been a board member of companies involved in land development, 
hospitality, franchising, construction, mining and finance.

Peter Cooke been a board member since 2007 and is the Deputy Chair of the Landgate Board of Management. He 
also chairs the Marketing and Business Development Committee. For the past 15 years, he has been the Principal 
of Agknowledge, a small agribusiness firm specialising in providing strategic business development to a range of 
companies, government departments and enterprises across Australia. Peter was Chief Executive Officer of the 
Kondinin Group from 1988 - 1997. He spent six years as a board member of the Rural Adjustment and Finance 
Corporation of WA (RAFCOR), was the Chair of the WA FarmBis program 1998 - 2008, and has the role of Independent 
Chair to four family farm boards. In 2012, Peter was appointed a member of the Advisory Board of the International 
Institute of Agri-food Security. Peter is also a board member of Landcorp and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. Additionally, Peter chairs the National Selection Panel for Australia’s Equestrian Olympic team.
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Board of Management - cont.

Karen Gadsby FCA MAICD
Board Member

Katrina Burton LLB BJuris
Board Member

Karen Gadsby has 28 years experience in finance with extensive experience in the mining industry. She worked for 
North Ltd throughout Australia for 13 years in various executive roles including Chief Financial Officer & Company 
Secretary and General Manager Finance. She has been involved with boards for more than 15 years and now works 
solely as a non-executive director. She is currently Chair of Community First International Ltd, Deputy Chair of 
Strategen Environmental Consulting Pty Ltd, and a Director for Talisman Mining Ltd & Forest Products Commission.  
Her previous directorships include AMES (Vic), Western Health (Vic), GMHBA (Vic) and Perth Home Care Services 
(WA). She is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Karen graduated from the University of Western Australia in 1984 with a Bachelor of Commerce and 
qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Coopers and Lybrand (WA) in 1987.

Katrina Burton is a solicitor and a director on a number of private sector and government boards. Katrina is one of 
the inaugural Board Members at Landgate. She is also a founding director of the EON foundation, a not-for-profit 
organisation that provides assistance to Indigenous individuals and communities, with a particular focus on Western 
Australia. Katrina graduated from the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor of Laws in 1987. 
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Board of Management - cont.

Paul White BSc MBA
Board Member

Claire Poll BA BJuris LLB
Board Member

A member of the Landgate Board since 2009, Paul White brings with him significant expertise in Information 
Technology strategic planning, project management and the implementation of technology-based solutions. 
Currently, Paul manages The Ark, a nationally funded open source medical research software project based at the 
University of Western Australia (UWA) and sits on the IVEC@UWA Board, the entity responsible for supercomputing 
at UWA.  Paul is also on the Board of earthmine Australia, which provides services for the collection, processing and 
delivery of 3D street level imagery in the Australian and New Zealand marketplace. He graduated from UWA with a 
Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering (Honours) and Computer Science.  He also holds a Master of Business 
Administration from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston, USA. Paul also runs a boutique distillery.

Claire Poll was appointed a member of the Landgate Board in February 2012. She has more than 20 years experience 
delivering legal and commercial solutions to companies in Australia, Asia, Europe and the United States across a 
range of industries. Currently, Claire is a Corporate Director at Verona Pharma plc, a drug discovery and development 
company listed on the AIM stock exchange in the UK.  Prior to this, she worked in venture capital and headed the 
corporate development division at Inmarsat Ltd, a global satellite communications company.  Claire has also been 
a non-executive director on various private and public companies involved in environmental technology, mining 
and investment.  Claire holds a Bachelor of Laws from the University of Western Australia and a Diploma in Applied 
Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of Australia. 
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Board of Management - cont.

Mike Bradford BSurv MMngt Stud
Chief Executive

Mike Bradford was appointed Chief Executive of Landgate in June 2009. In this role he has led the transformation 
of the business including the foundation of the new commercial sales team and the development of a Location 
Information Strategy for Western Australia.  Mike has international experience managing land information products 
and services including topographic map production, satellite remote sensing and geographic information systems. 
He is experienced in strategic planning and the management of complex information technology projects.  He has 
also been instrumental in several cross government initiatives. Mike holds a Bachelor of Surveying Degree and a 
Master in Management Studies (Project Management).  
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overview of the authority

Ian Hyde
General Manager - Strategy and Reform

John Wreford
General Manager - Finance, Information and Legal Services

Ian Hyde was appointed as General Manager, Strategy and Reform in December 2010. In this role, he draws upon 
extensive strategic planning, policy formulation and business reform experience to lead the transformation of 
Landgate into a more strategy led and business focused organisation. Ian has also played key leadership roles in 
securing Cabinet approval and more than $50 million in funding for the cross-government Shared Land Information 
Program and Location Information Strategy. Ian has qualifications in surveying, computing and management and 
has a strong understanding of the Landgate business, gained from holding a number of executive positions within 
Landgate. These include Information Access, Business Development, Information Management and International. He 
was previously the Registrar of Titles for WA.   

John Wreford joined Landgate as General Manager Finance, Information and Legal Services in 2011.  John’s 
experiences from the private sector in accounting, banking, IT and legal services industries have contributed a 
commercial edge to Landgate’s investment, operational and strategic decisions. This has assisted Landgate in 
increasing profitability and productivity in the business as a result of close attention to cost management and resource 
levels.  John holds a Bachelor of Engineering, a Graduate Diploma of Business (Professional Accounting), a Master 
in Commerce (Electronic Commerce) and is currently completing his PhD by research in Information Systems.  He 
is a member of CPA Australia (Public Practice), the Australian Computer Society and the Information Systems Audit 
and Control Association.

Landgate’s Corporate Executive Team

The Corporate Executive is an advisory leadership team to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).  Subject to the direction of the Board, the CEO is responsible for and has 
the powers to administer the day-to-day operations of Landgate.  This committee has been convened by the CEO to support the strategic and operational management 
of Landgate.
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overview of the authority

Landgate’s Corporate Executive Team - cont.

Jodi Cant
General Manager - Business Development

Bruce Roberts
General Manager - Operations

Jodi Cant joined Landgate in 2004 and was appointed to General Manager Business Development in October 2009. 
Previously, Jodi developed and implemented the Landgate Innovation Program, a first for State Government. As 
Manager of Corporate Communications, Jodi was responsible for the design and application of the Landgate brand.  
Jodi has worked in both the private and not-for-profit sectors with extensive experience in marketing, communications 
and strategic planning.  Jodi is the Chair of eArthmine Australia and a board member of the Public Sector Mapping 
Agency.  She is a creative thinker and an effective team builder.  Jodi holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree and is 
a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a Fellow of Leadership WA.

Bruce joined Landgate in 1993 and prior to the role of General Manager Operations, he held the positions of 
Registrations Branch Manager and Registrar of Titles. He has also held a number of other roles including Manager 
of Landgate Legal and Deputy Commissioner of Titles. Bruce was appointed as the inaugural Chair of the Australian 
Registrars National Electronic Conveyancing Council of Australia. In this role he established effective liaison between 
land registries at a national level as well as the National Electronic Conveyancing Development Limited.  Bruce led the 
development of the legislative and regulatory framework for National Electronic Conveyancing and liaised with state 
and national stakeholders.  Bruce holds a Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Jurisprudence.
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Outcome Based Management Framework

Landgate directly contributes to the State 
Government’s goal to ensure economic activity 
is managed in a socially and environmentally 
responsible manner for the long term benefit of 
the State by:

underpinning the effective and efficient  »
operation of land and property markets 

supporting the State’s rating and taxing  »
base

providing access to government location- »
based information to support sound 
decision making by government, industry 
and the community. 

These contributions and their relationships to 
government goals and agency outcomes are 
outlined in the diagram below. 

Further detail on Landgate’s contributions to 
the State Government’s goals and planned 
outcomes are outlined in the Agency 
Performance and the Disclosures and Legal 
Compliance sections of this Annual Report.

Government Goal: Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit of the state

Landgate Goals: Self sustaining and Sound Operations

The State’s administrative, commercial and 
social systems are supported by a land 

information base and certainty of ownership 
and other interests in land

Land Information

Secure property rights 
& land titles register 

underpins property market

Deliver fair, impartial valuations for 
State and Local Government and 
utilities that underpin the rating 

and taxing system

Location Information Strategy 
(LIS)

Detail extent of interests and 
restrictions affecting use and 

enjoyment of private and 
Crown land

Manage and value property 
assets on behalf of State and 

Local Government

Redevelopment of Shared 
Land Information Platform 

(SLIP)

Coordinated & expanded 
State Land Information 

Capture Program (SLICP)

Increase government 
agencies’ collaboration in 

location information to achieve 
greater efficiencies and 

improve decision making

Provision & integration of 
location information (maps, 
surveys, aerial and satellite 
imagery & property sales 
information) to support 

decisions making

Valuations Access to Government Location Information

Independent valuations support government’s 
collection of rates and taxes and management 

of property assets

Co-ordinated capture and access to the 
State’s location information

Value for Customers

Landgate Outcomes

Landgate Services

Benefits to the Community
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Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework

During the 2011/12 financial year the Authority reviewed its desired outcomes, services and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).

Minor changes have been made to the wording and KPIs for Outcomes 1 and 2. Outcome 3 has been re-written and new effectiveness and efficiency indicators 
established to reflect Landgate and the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) activity in achieving Location Information Strategy outcomes.   

The Under Treasurer has approved Landgate’s outcome based management structure for the 2011/12 annual reporting period.  This is in line with the annual reporting 
requirements as outlined in Treasurer’s Instruction 903, which is included in the disclosure of the key performance indicators in the Agency Performance and the 
Disclosures and Legal Compliance sections of this Annual Report.    

Shared Responsibilities

Landgate is leading the implementation of the Location Information Strategy (LIS) in conjunction with the WALIS community.  WALIS is a dynamic partnership of 
government agencies, businesses and educational institutions, working together to manage and promote the State’s geographic information. State Cabinet approved the 
LIS in August 2011, and confirmed Landgate’s lead role in consolidating and managing the State’s location information asset on behalf of government.    

The collaboration between Landgate and WALIS to implement the LIS will:

Support the economic growth of the State by improving the access, use and integration of location information. »

Provide location information to support sound planning and decision-making for government, industry and the community. »

Minimise the duplication of resources by collecting location data once and using it many times. »

Reduce infrastructure cost and maintenance for location information, resulting in more efficient utilisation of funding across government. »

Develop the location information industry through partnerships between industry and government rather than direct competition to provide new planning and  »
decision-making support services, GIS capabilities, data collection and maintenance services and industry development opportunities.

Although Landgate is not directly responsible for the delivery of other agencies’ desired outcomes and services, Landgate works collaboratively with other agencies to 
deliver cross government outcomes and provide benefits to government, industry and the community. 
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Strategic Framework

Landgate operates in accordance with a Strategic 
Development Plan (five-year business plan) and Statement 
of Corporate Intent (annual operating plan) as agreed 
between its Board and the Minister for Lands. These plans 
are required under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 
and set out Landgate’s strategic objectives, proposed 
achievements, financial requirements and business strategy.

The Strategic Development Plan and Statement of 
Corporate Intent also provide the foundation for more 
specific planning and reporting under Landgate’s strategy 
and planning framework, as depicted in the diagram. The 
Annual Report is a summary of the achievements made at 
the end of the financial year

Landgate Strategic Framework

Legislation & Government Policy

State Budget  
(4 year)

Corporate Roadmaps and Plans 
(Operations, IT, HR, Sales & Marketing, Asset Investment Plan)

Performance monitoring & reports 
(Annual Report, Half Yearly Report, Performance Agreements)

Strategic Development Plan 
(5 year business strategy)

Statement of Corporate Intent 
(1 year business plan)
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Summary Financial Highlights and Achievements

Operating Result 

Landgate’s overall profit (before tax) result of $20.9m was a significant improvement against both its original 
target of $10.5m and also the prior year’s result of $0.9m.  Both solid revenue performance and a tight rein on 
expenditure contributed to this result.

The 2011/12 financial year began with a subdued property market and economic uncertainty both locally and 
overseas.  This resulted in revenue targets being significantly downgraded although as the year progressed, the 
property market showed some improvement with registration and search revenues, Landgate’s main revenue 
sources, slightly exceeding their respective targets.  Overall, operating revenue finished 4.5% above target and 
11.4% above the previous year mainly due to additional revenue from registrations and searches, valuations, 
grants and other revenues.  

Expenditure ended the year $5.1m below budget due to the instigation of savings measures which also 
facilitated Landgate’s participation in the Government’s Voluntary Severance Scheme and enabled staff numbers 
to decrease by 8%.  Other reductions resulted from IT contract efficiencies, accommodation rationalisation and 
from a frugal approach to all other expenditure.  

Landgate - Mapping
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2011/2012  
Target (1)

($’000)

2011/2012 
Actual
($’000)

2010/2011 
Actual
($’000)

Statement of Income

Revenue

- Operating     109,205 114,149 102,475

- State Government 39,507 39,866 35,208

Total Revenue     148,712 154,015 137,683

Operating Expenditure 138,258 133,159 136,825

Operating Result (before tax) 10,454 20,856 858

Statement of Financial Position

Total Assets     192,124 196,562 170,960

Total Liabilities 64,198 66,247 62,820

Total Equity (Net Assets) 127,926 130,315 108,140

(1) 2011/12 Estimated Actual result as published in the 2012/13 Budget Statements.

Further explanations of significant variances are contained in Note 49 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the financial statements.

Summary Financial Highlights and Achievements - cont.

Financial Summary
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Summary Financial Highlights and Achievements - cont.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year totalled $6.5m.  Investment continued in the Authority’s e-Business initiatives, business infrastructure required to support both these 
initiatives and existing business arrangements, asset replacement and improving the quality of land information.  Significant investment included the ongoing replacement 
of various information technology assets, Innovation, Enterprise Infrastructure and Midland building upgrade. 

Outcomes Summary

As the year progressed property market activity showed signs of improvement resulting in a higher than expected number of land registration actions.  This increased 
activity combined with cost saving initiatives resulted in the unit cost finishing below target.

Land information actions also finished above target and with costs being contained within budget due to efficiencies and other cost savings initiatives, this achieved a 
result below the unit cost target.

Valuations completed for the year were above target but had a slightly higher cost per unit mainly due to increased cost of valuers’ salaries and modest staff turnover. 

The SLICP requests and gigabytes of information delivered through SLIP are new performance measures.  The unit costs for both measures ended the year below target.  
As this is a new efficiency indicator, the 2011/12 results will form the baseline for future comparisons and improved measurement targets.
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Quality Measures
Target

2011/2012 (a)

Actual
2011/2012

Actual
2010/2011

Actual
2009/2010

Land registration actions 1,939,272 2,018,957 2,002,153   2,220,536

Land information actions (b) 1,311,881 1,687,700 1,755,594      776,206

Valuations completed 1,302,000 1,315,100 1,807,113   1,522,078

SLICP requests for capture (c)             165          169 New New

Gigabytes of information delivered through SLIP (c) 2,676 2,402                  New New

Unit Cost Measures
Target

2011/2012 (a)

Actual
2011/2012

Actual
2010/2011

Actual
2009/2010

Land registration actions          $40.75      $36.84        $39.69       $32.16

Land information actions (b)          $24.60      $18.00        $18.49       $37.58

Valuations completed          $17.66      $18.52        $12.80       $14.91

SLICP requests for capture (c)          $7,709      $6,834    New New

Gigabytes of information delivered through SLIP (c)          $1,014         $987    New New

(a) 2011/12 Estimated Actual result as published in the 2012/13 Budget Statements.
(b) The number of land information actions and unit cost for 2010/11 and 2011/12 differs from what was previously reported as a consequence of a change in the measurement 

methodology of actions in respect to aerial photography.  
(c) The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new efficiency indicators in 2011/12 and therefore there are no comparatives.

More detailed information regarding Landgate’s key performance indicators is presented in the section ‘Disclosures and Legal Compliance’. 

Outcome Summary

Summary Financial Highlights and Achievements - cont.
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One Business

Landgate continues to embed a ‘One Business’ philosophy, with the aim of improving integration, communication and collaboration across the Agency. 

Achievements made during the year include:

Finalising a corporate restructure to streamline operations, create synergies and support the development of a more agile and skilled workforce. »

Implementing a strategy and planning framework to achieve greater alignment between Landgate’s strategic direction and the execution of operational activities. »

Relocating all Perth-based Property and Valuations staff to Landgate’s main business location in Midland. »

Developing an improved performance management system for staff that ties personal performance to Landgate’s strategic goals and objectives. »

Actively promoting initiatives that nurture an innovative culture and facilitate the exchange of ideas between staff, such as the Innovation Forum and Landgate’s  »
‘SmartAsk’ wiki website.

Implementing learning and development programs to help staff embrace change, value our customers and adopt a holistic approach to problem solving. »

Sales Directorate

Landgate has established a Sales Directorate to promote sales growth and sharpen the Agency’s customer focus. 
Reporting directly to the Chief Executive, the new directorate incorporates staff with expertise in customer contact and advice, account management, product 
management, commercial services and marketing and communications.
All Landgate employees are encouraged to embrace the Landgate brand and share responsibility for increased sales of products and services. Of particular focus is the 
introduction of product management, through which many areas across Landgate will work together to review Landgate’s product catalogue and ensure products align 
with market needs.
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One Business - cont.

Customer Centre

The Customer Contact Centre continues to expand its scope to meet the needs of our customers in a more 
efficient and effective manner, as well as providing support to other parts of the business.

During the 2011/12 financial year Landgate experienced a high customer demand for registration and strata 
advice.  Staff from the Registrations area assisted with the additional telephone queries.  In order to continue 
to meet this demand and as part of Landgate’s ‘One Business’ approach, the Customer Centre staff are 
undertaking registration training on a three-monthly rotational basis.  This will enable them to better handle 
customer enquiries and provide the Registrations area with an additional resource base, for the examination of 
simple discharge, transfer and mortgage documents.

Relocation

As part of the ‘One Business’ approach, Landgate relocated 120 Property and Valuations’ (PV) staff from their 
premises at Mount Street, Perth to the Authority’s Midland premises in December 2011. The lease on the Mount 
Street premises has ceased, providing the Authority with significant savings on rent and outgoings for the five-
floor premises in Perth.

Perth Landgate Office -  
Customer Service Centre
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Operational Highlights

Pathway to Greater Capacity

In 2010 Landgate developed the Pathway to Greater Capacity Program.  This program was designed to implement fundamental changes to create organisational 
capacity, deliver efficiencies and enhance productivity.  The Program has achieved the following during the 2011/12 financial year:

Landgate completed a review of the cost of services it provides to State Government agencies. This has resulted in Landgate commencing consultation with the  »
Department of Treasury in developing a new funding regime for State Government agencies.  

The review identified funding shortfalls, were mainly due to a rise in the quantity and complexity of requests made on Landgate services. Landgate received an  »
increase in appropriation for the 2011/12 and 2012/13 financial years.  Additionally Landgate continues to support existing service levels to other government 
agencies.

To maximise return on investment in Information Technology, Landgate identified reforms on how it delivers technology services.  These reforms have resulted in  »
savings totalling$10.47 million -$1.33 million in the 2011/12 financial year and $2.36 million, $3.39 million and $3.39 million respectively over the next four years. 

Landgate has commenced the implementation of a Product Management Framework to support, guide and direct products throughout their lifecycle.  The framework  »
will support the alignment of products and product suites to identified strategic directions, as well as assist with the delivery of new products and services. This 
includes but is not limited to pre-product development evaluation, due diligence, appropriate return for investment, setting of performance standards and changes 
throughout the life of a product.

As part of continuous improvement, commenced development of a corporate cost model and pricing framework to facilitate reviews of efficiency, enable correct  »
pricing, implement product lifecycle management and ensure appropriate funding.

A review of the business processes within Survey Plan Lodgement and Audit identified improvements that could deliver efficiencies.  These recommended  »
improvements are being investigated with the aim of implementing changes in 2012/13.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

National Electronic Conveyancing System

A National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS) is one of the priorities of the National Partnership Agreement, established by the Council of Australian Governments 
(COAG) to deliver a seamless national economy. A company has been formed to build and operate the first National Electronic Conveyancing platform, called National 
E-Conveyancing Development Limited (NECDL). NECDL is a company limited by shares and is majority government owned. Landgate is a shareholder in NECDL.

A priority for the NECS project team has been development of an Electronic Conveyancing National Law (ECNL) and considerable work has been undertaken in finalising 
the legislative framework to allow public consultation and implementation at both the national and Western Australian State level.  It is anticipated that the ECNL will 
be introduced in New South Wales (as host jurisdiction) in September 2012 and subsequently into other States and the Northern Territory by the middle of 2013, thus 
achieving a consistent national legislation.

In 2012/13, NECDL will develop and test an e-conveyancing platform to be known as Property Exchange Australia (PEXA), with a view to commencing implementation in 
the Victoria and New South Wales from April 2013. The Western Australian solution is planned for implementation in late 2013.

The proposed implementation of NECS in WA will occur in two stages. 

Stage one will see an operational system commencing for discharges of mortgage and new mortgages by the end of calendar year 2013.  »

Stage two will commence by end calendar year 2014 and will include full financial settlement facilities and further document types being transfers of land, caveats  »
and withdrawal of caveats. 
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Operational Highlights - cont.

National Electronic Conveyancing System - cont.

A number of the key benefits of NECS include practitioner and consumer convenience with anticipated 
efficiency gains being passed on to consumers, together with a common process for users in all jurisdictions.

The opportunities for Landgate in relation to NECS are the ability to reform our internal business processes with 
the digital data from the new electronic processes, together with the investment in NECDL and the shareholder 
benefits this investment will return to the State. 

The challenge for Landgate and for the Conveyancing industry in Western Australia is to integrate the new 
e-commerce systems and procedures into current paper based processes. Landgate and industry will 
collectively pursue a rapid uptake of electronic conveyancing to realise the potential of, and to maximise the 
efficiencies created by NECS.

Sue Thomas, a former board member of the Landgate Board of Management has been appointed to the Board 
of NECDL.

Document Lodgement
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Location Information Strategy

Significant consultation and engagement occurred during 2011/12 with central government agencies, industry, academia, the Regional Development Council and 
Infrastructure Coordinating Committee.  This work culminated on May 7 2012, when Cabinet approved $23 million to implement stage 1 of the Location Information 
Strategy (LIS) between 2012 and 2015; including $8.3 million through the Royalties for Regions program. 

The aim of the LIS is to make decision-making and processes, particularly infrastructure investment and delivery of services, timelier and more cost effective. The strategy 
proposes a clear plan to ensure that location information is collected, made available and used to enhance planning capabilities and to reduce the time for statutory 
approval of major state projects. 

It will do this by ensuring: 

Location information is only collected once to avoid duplication and made readily available to support functions of Government. »

Location information is consolidated and accessed in the most cost effective way through the Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP). »

All current and planned capture proposals of location information will be provided to Landgate by public sector agencies, to identify and prioritise in consultation with  »
the relevant public sector agency, opportunities for strategic investment in the capture of this information; and

Benefits of government and industry research and development investment in location information and technology will be applied to create a competitive advantage  »
for Western Australia, and to support the State’s strategic needs – maximising the value of this investment for the State.

Implementation of the Strategy will be lead and managed by Landgate, through the Western Australian Land Information System, a governance model that has been 
operating since 1981 and is considered world leading in terms of a partnership across local and state government and the private sector. 

In the first stage of implementation, the Location Information Strategy Program will focus on two priority projects:

Development of a scenario-based planning capability to support planning and investment across the State, led by the Department of Planning; and »

Enhancement of processes in providing approvals of major state development projects, led by the Department of Premier and Cabinet and Department of State  »
Development.

An investment will also be made in capturing more comprehensive and timely location information, through the State Land Information Capture Program to support 
planning and investment across the State. 

The return on investment through the LIS will extend this benefit of location information across the public and private sectors, leverage significant investment in existing 
research programs, and expand opportunities for the local spatial industry to participate in state development activities.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

SLIP Enabler

SLIP Enabler is the technical platform of infrastructure and services that enables the connection, management and delivery of information from multiple sources.  SLIP 
Enabler has seen a growth in customer use throughout the 2011/12 financial year. This is evidenced through an increase in the number of organisations subscribing 
to SLIP Services and an increase of these services being embedded into online applications. This increase is growing the dependence on SLIP Enabler in other 
organisations as the delivery channel for timely and valued land information.

To ensure the systems infrastructure has sufficient capacity to deal with potential opportunities in the future, Landgate conducted an investigation of the system in 
2011/12, including base-lining the performance against future expected growth.  This investigation identified a range of improvements that will ensure Landgate maintains 
a reliable system with room to grow while options for future development are explored.

Interest Enquiry

Interest Enquiry (IE) is a product which provides users with a map viewer, combined with spatial searching capability, to identify and display interests relating to a 
particular area of land.  IE has been redeveloped during the 2011/12 financial year to provide better access and awareness of interests pertaining to land and property, 
leveraging the SLIP Enabler. Through SLIP Enabler, provision of information benefiting the conveyancing, real estate and financial industries will be available through a 
new IE report, which will consolidate all known interests into a single report. This redevelopment was undertaken as a direct result of feedback from these industries to 
better leverage IE and streamline access through a single point.

With the pending completion of the IE Upgrade Project in July 2012, IE will have access to 23 interests, which will further increase the value of the service within the 
industry and the benefits to the community at large.  

The IE Project at Landgate continues to support national initiatives by encouraging greater federal involvement including securing in-principal support from the 
Commonwealth Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities to supply interest data relating to the Environment Protection and 
Biodiversity Conservation Act.  

Additionally, the Landgate IE Project team has participated in activities for national taskforces, such as the Land Use and Building Code Taskforce of the National 
Emergency Management Council.  The Land Use and Building Code Taskforce is part of the national response to the National Strategy for Disaster Resilience, as well as 
the National Infrastructure for Managing Land Information project.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

iSpatial

iSpatial is a five year work program modernising the systems and processes associated with producing location products. At the core of the project is a multipurpose and 
extensive data model for cross agency collaboration and a geographic knowledge base to support government decision making and product development.

The iSpatial method has been used to produce 1600 topographic maps at a scale 1:25,000 covering the south west of the state. The maps are now available for sale 
electronically. Work is progressing to complete a base map of the metropolitan region, which will be used for multiple products including the street directory, city and 
touring maps, and as a backdrop to many location-based applications.  

Landgate, the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC) and Main Roads WA are working together to develop an enhanced routable roads dataset for the 
state. 

Under a new Head of Agreement (HOA) DEC is currently integrating DEC managed roads into the Landgate topographic database. This will achieve a single authoritative 
source of roads information for the state.

Additionally a Memorandum of Understanding between Landgate and Main Roads WA is being prepared to formalise the collaboration of key implementation activities, 
which will enable efficient sharing of roads information.

Landgate, in conjunction with Fire and Emergency Service Authority (FESA) and the Western Australian Police (WAPOL), is developing a map-based crowd-sourcing tool 
to collect Points of Interest (POI) to support emergency response and incident coordination.  Currently Landgate, FESA and WAPOL each manage disparate POI data 
sets.  

During the 2011/12 financial year the agencies have been merging their POI data holdings into a single environment to be held at Landgate. The maintenance of the POI 
data will be a collaborative effort using an online direct editing capability.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

earthmine Australia Pty Ltd

In January 2012 Landgate received approval from the Minister for Lands and the 
Treasurer to form the joint venture company, earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (eA), which 
was officially launched by the Hon Minister for Lands on 27 February 2012.

eA is an incorporated joint venture company created to undertake the capture and 
hosting of earthmine data covering Australia and New Zealand. Offering a complete 
end to end solution, the company processes and distributes 3D street level imagery 
to the Australian and New Zealand region. eA is a solution for asset management 
on both rail and road networks and is accessible to clients through its Value Added 
Resellers (VAR) network.  
 
The incorporated joint venture participants are Landgate, Geomatic Technologies 
(Vic), and earthmine Inc (USA).  

earthmine Australia
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Aurora - Digital Regions Initiative – Landgate’s FireWatch 

Aurora is a collaborative project between Landgate, the Fire and Emergency Services Authority (FESA) and 
University of Western Australia.  It is funded by the CommonDepartment of Broadband, Communications and 
the Digital Economy Digital Regions Initiative Program. The project aims to build a predictive bushfire spread 
capability into FireWatch. Outcomes include the ability to improve urban and town planning with respect to 
mitigating bushfire risk, as well as to assist in fuel load management through prescribed burns. It is an example 
of combining science, technology and process automation to manage a fundamental problem in the Australian 
landscape. 

 
The following outcomes were achieved during the 2011/12 financial year:

The release of the ArcGIS add-on to FESA to begin testing of the integration of bushfire spread simulator  »
with weather and other datasets in the FESA corporate GIS environment.

The commencement of national user engagement activities including presentations at the Australian Fire  »
and Emergency Service Authorities Council Conference in Sydney in September 2011, followed by targeted 
presentations to fire agencies in Queensland, New South Wales, Victoria and Geoscience Australia in 
November 2011 to raise awareness of the project to end users.

The release of the Aurora website which shows results of bushfire spread simulations based on fire hot  »
spots generated from FireWatch and allows for remote fire managers to run their own simulations.

The production of a strategic plan to coordinate activities to expand the uptake of Aurora in fire management  »
agencies in other jurisdictions.

FireWatch - Aurora
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Innovation

Landgate’s Innovation Program has provided a significant positive cultural change across the organisation which has inspired staff to engage in creative thinking and 
value added ideas. Since its launch in 2008, the program has discussed 4,055 ideas, funded over 100 projects and created approximately $800,000 in new revenue.  
The online Innovation Forum continues to perform well and provides staff with an open and transparent platform in which to raise and discuss innovative ideas, monitor 
progress and provide a means to communicate effectively across the organisation.  

 Throughout this year, the Innovation Program has funded 26 projects, including Landgate’s first joint venture – earthmine Australia. 

Innovation Month was held in February 2012 showcasing a number of inspiring and educational events and staff celebrations.  These included the Innovation of the Year 
Award and the Chief Executive’s breakfast with the top 20 contributors to the forum.  Other events included the Meet the Board Q&A, the Innovation Expo and a range of 
creative thinking workshops.

The Innovation Program has been demonstrably successful within Landgate and is now highly sought after by government and non-government agencies. In February 
2011, Landgate launched ‘Innovation Out of a Box’ and unveiled the Innovation website, which has made Landgate’s innovation program available to all.

Since the launch of the ‘Innovation Out of a Box’ toolkit and website, Landgate has consulted with more than 50 agencies from the private, public and not for profit 
sectors. Following these consultations many of these agencies have started to roadmap or implement their own innovation programs. 

Landgate continues to provide a leadership role in innovation across the WA public sector and is involved in a range of cross government collaborations, including 
representation on the WA Public Sector Joint Initiative Innovation Working Group.  Landgate has also been instrumental in planning the WA Public Sector Innovation one 
day workshop.  The workshop theme was collaborative partnerships in action and the purpose was to identify ways in which the public sector could improve delivery of 
citizen centric outcomes. Landgate has taken on a key outcome of the workshop in leading Innovation Champions Group Workshops.  

The Champions Group has representatives from up to 30 Western Australian public sector agencies.  The workshops provide an opportunity for innovation champions to 
discuss innovation approaches and issues within their respective organisations to collaborate across the sector and push boundaries to inspire creative thinking.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Research and Development

One of Landgate’s focuses is to improve its range of products and services for its customers.  One aspect it pursues is to undertake research and development in new 
technology to benefit its customers.  Landgate is currently involved in a number of projects involving research and development in spatial sciences.  This includes both 
internal innovation projects and other projects through alliances with Curtin University and the Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information (CRC-SI), which 
Landgate is a core partner.  Projects range from improvements in multi-satellite data collection to new spatial decisions in urban planning.  

Landgate is a core partner in the CRC-SI.  This Australian government initiative is a collaboration between universities, government agencies and private industry.  The 
purpose of the partnership is to unlock the potential of spatial information for economic, environmental and social benefit. The projects use research, development and 
education activities to focus on achieving real outcomes.  Landgate has been a key contributor to the initiative with the commitment of financial and in kind contributions 
until 2018.  

Landgate Chief Executive, Mike Bradford is the Chair of the Research Strategy Spatial Infrastructure (Program 3) Board.  This strategy sets out to significantly improve 
the organisation, access and use of spatial data in Australia and New Zealand by supporting the development of the Australia and New Zealand spatial marketplace and 
its underpinning national spatial data infrastructure.  Further development of the marketplace will allow access to the wide range of spatial resources including datasets, 
apps and services.

CRC-SI has funded a three year project, ‘Biomass Business’ which aims to develop a rangelands pastoral biomass assessment model using satellite imagery for 
northern Australia. The project, which commenced in July 2011 and covers Liveringa Station in the Kimberley, will provide a biomass/forage assessment tool to calculate 
the amount of feed available during the year. The quantity of forage determines the viable number of stock a pastoral property can run to achieve sustainable land 
management outcomes. The web based tool will be called FAT-CHOP (Forage Assessment Tool - Calculating Heads On Pasture) and will deliver this information to 
pastoralists over the internet.

This financial year, Curtin University recruited a PhD student to develop the rangelands biomass estimation model in consultation with project partners Landgate and the 
University of New England.  This was made possible by a CRC-SI scholarship grant. In addition, three trips were made to Liveringa Station to identify sampling sites and 
begin sampling to correlate satellite imagery with on-ground measurements.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Data Quality and Integration

Through Landgate’s Innovation program Landgate has developed a methodology to align spatial datasets between the Department of Planning and Landgate. This will 
enable local planning scheme datasets to align with Landgate’s cadastral framework for use within the Shared Land Information Platform and Interest Enquiry. Landgate 
is continuing to explore opportunities to align other similar spatial datasets held by other government agencies.

Customer Satisfaction Survey- enhanced services

In 2010 Landgate conducted a Customer Satisfaction Survey.  This was used to guide enhancements to Landgate’s customer services in 2011/12 financial year, which 
included:

Significant investment in improving the usability and reliability of Landgate’s online presence - The introduction of new online products together with upgrading  »
existing products has enabled Landgate to continue to meet the needs of its customers.  

Free online property statistics - provides free information pertaining to the value of properties, suburbs, hot spots and top weekly performers.  This, together with  »
Landgate’s monthly business activity profile, provides the community and property industry professionals with a thorough overview of the property market in Western 
Australia.

An area of significant improvement has been Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP) customer services and support - The technical skills of front line staff have  »
been improved, which has enhanced processes to resolve technical difficulties and provide a more responsive service.

Customer communication – Landgate has undertaken significant improvements in customer communications and notifications especially around key issues affecting  »
industry groups, for example identity verification process changes associated with fraud mitigation. Landgate provides ongoing support and investment to account 
management.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Disaster Recovery Sites

During 2011/2012 Landgate has continued to implement elements of its Business Continuity Framework, both at an operational and technical level.  Of particular 
success this year was the establishment of an IT critical incident recovery facility separate from the main Midland Office.  Should Landgate experience a critical system or 
infrastructure failure, there is now the mechanism to provide recovery of our key IT systems supporting our regulatory activities within an acceptable timeframe.  Landgate 
will continue to expand the capabilities of this facility to support other important business functions.

Transition from enterprise server to commodity server

The transition of Landgate’s applications from the existing proprietary Hewlett Packard server environment to the new commodity server environment commenced in 
2010, continued through 2011/12 and the final stage is on schedule to be completed in early 2013. This upgrade will provide major system performance and stability 
improvements for Landgate.  Regular implementations are scheduled for the remainder of the 2013/13 calendar year. The completion of the transition will see the 
decommissioning of our ageing enterprise servers and significantly reduce the risks and costs associated with maintaining this ageing hardware.

Our People

During the 2011/12 financial year a substantial change to the organisational structure was approved and implemented, with over 80 per cent of the Authority subject 
to some structural change.  The restructuring focussed on implementing the “One Business” philosophy and improving customer service by sharpening the focus on 
commercial outcomes, growing new revenue streams and ensuring products and services are relevant to client and business requirements.  The creation of a new Sales 
Directorate was a major initiative in this regard.

The organisational structure change also enabled Landgate to offer a significant number of severances to employees whose roles were no longer required under the 
government’s 2011 Voluntary Separation scheme.  Seventy five employees accepted these offers.
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Operational Highlights - cont.

Our People - cont.

The terms of the Voluntary Separation Scheme permitted agencies to retain 50 per cent of the salary savings.  Landgate’s Board, together with the Corporate Executive 
agreed to invest a portion of these savings into the training and development of Landgate staff.  Total expenditure on workforce and skills acquisition increased by 15 per 
cent, with a 28 per cent increase in the average spent per full time equivalent. 

Landgate’s Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2011-2013 initiatives are designed to increase cultural awareness within the existing workforce, as well as deliver additional 
and meaningful employment and training opportunities for Aboriginal people. During the 2011/12 financial year Landgate conducted Aboriginal Cultural Awareness 
workshops which were attended by 91 staff, management and board members.  

Landgate continues to support school-based traineeships and has also engaged two full-time trainees under the Public Sector Commission’s Aboriginal Traineeship 
Program.  Our commitment has included training for supervisors and mentors to ensure Aboriginal trainees receive culturally appropriate support in the workplace.  Every 
Aboriginal employee at Landgate has a mentor.  These activities are the critical foundation steps for growing an inclusive and supportive culture.

The Authority’s contribution to the community continues with employees volunteering to take part in the local schools mentoring program and various fundraising for 
charities.  A number of new initiatives during the 2011/12 financial year were:

International Year of Forests - 75 Landgate staff donated their time to plant over 3000 native seedlings at Whiteman Park.   »

The 2012 Vinnie’s CEO Sleep Out - Landgate’s Chief Executive joined business leaders to raise money and awareness of homelessness. »

The ASPIRE Leadership Lunch - Staff and local community members attended the lunch and listened to a motivational speaker.  The money raised was donated to  »
the Midland Police and Citizen’s Youth Club.

International Women’s Day Breakfast – was held to celebrate the economic, political and social achievements of women.  The event was attended by Landgate staff  »
and local community members.  Money raised at this event was donated to the EON Foundation.
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Issues and Trends

The future context for delivering services for government presents many challenges. These include:

Increasing cost, constrained revenue growth and diminished availability of capital for investment. »

Increasing demand for core services (health, education, housing, law enforcement, transport, utilities) partially driven by population growth. »

Ageing workforce. »

Increasing competition from the resources sector for specialised skills. »

Data sovereignty and privacy. »

Other trends in the business environment include: 

Customers directly accessing services from source providers (rather than through third parties). »

Sourcing the supply of products and services in the most optimum manner.   »

The need to improve productivity is recognised as a key driver for the Australian economy. The information knowledge economy, of which Landgate is a key player, 
features significant productivity opportunities including reducing the cost of coordination and optimising the potential of the information, technology and resources 
available.

Landgate will be pursuing a considerable reform agenda to increase the productivity of its own operations and consolidate spatial infrastructure and services across 
government. Landgate will continue to demonstrate the power of location information to improve the quality of life of West Australians through better informed decision 
making and planning capabilities.

During the year, an inaugural review of the operation and effectiveness of the Land Information Authority Act 2006 was carried out by the Minister for Lands, with the 
review report to be tabled in Parliament before the end of 2012. Landgate will respond to the key issues and recommendations raised during the review process.
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Issues and Trends - cont.

The West Australian property market activity is expected to recover slowly from very low levels which have placed considerable pressure on Landgate’s finances. In 
response to this, Landgate will continue to improve productivity and modernise its business through system and process reform. This includes implementing plans to 
address government savings measures, such as the efficiency dividend announced in the 2012/13 Budget. The focus of the reform agenda is automation of various 
business processes to allow Landgate to better adapt to an ageing workforce and changes in market activity levels.  Landgate also needs to prepare for the introduction 
of the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS). Landgate will also continue to reform its pricing and financial frameworks to support productivity initiatives and 
ensure income from regulated fees, commercial revenue and government funding covers the true cost of service delivery.

The location information industry is evolving at a rapid pace, with the use of location information being increasingly widespread. 
 A major challenge is to balance increased user demands for data quality, with the cost of acquisition and maintenance to ensure that business practices remain 
sustainable into the future. Demand for location based solutions is growing and community and user expectations about how data can be accessed and shared are 
changing. Landgate is responding to user expectations by making its services more intuitive and user-centric.  

Cabinet’s approval of the Location Information Strategy (LIS) endorsed Landgate’s leadership role in consolidating and managing the government’s location information 
asset. In collaboration with the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) community, Landgate will continue to lead the implementation of the LIS in order 
to deliver a more comprehensive and better coordinated approach to capturing and maintaining location information, and use partnering opportunities with other 
government agencies and industry to reduce costly duplication across government.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND INFORMATION AUTHORITY 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Western Australian Land Information Authority at 
30 June 2012 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
during the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
Controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are those policies and 
procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority for the year ended 30 June 2012.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance 
and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority for the year ended 30 June 2012 included on 
the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management are responsible for the integrity of the 
Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may 
have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If 
users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information 
contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
7 September 2012 
 

Independent Audit Opinion
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Murray Smith

Chief Finance Officer
Western Australian Land Information Authority

3 September 2012   

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

3 September 2012    

Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

3 September 2012   

Certification of the Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2012 and the financial position as at 30 June 2012. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
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Note
2012

($000)
2011

($000)

INCOME

Revenue  

Provision of services 7 101,853 93,256

Sale of land information, data and imagery 8 7,308 6,628

Commonwealth grants and contributions 9 1,346 953

Interest revenue 10 1,541 706

Other revenue 11 1,608 928

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 12 0 4

Other gains 12 493 0

Total Income 114,149 102,475

EXPENSES

Employee benefits expense 13 76,109 71,013

Supplies & services 14 27,249 27,541

Other expenses 15 8,195 7,077

Depreciation and amortisation expense 16 10,356 11,245

Finance costs 17 2,762 2,942

Accommodation expenses 18 7,273 6,533

Impairment loss 29 1,211 10,474

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 12 4 0

Total Expenses 133,159 136,825

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State Government (19,010) (34,350)

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Comprehensive Income - For the year ended 30 June 2012

Financial Statements
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Note
2012

($000)
2011

($000)

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 19 38,777 34,476

Resources received free of charge 20 1,089 732

Total grants and subsidies from State Government 39,866 35,208

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 20,856 858

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 35 (6,449) (710)

Profit/(loss) for the period 14,407 148

Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 34 850 718

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income 34 0 0

Total other comprehensive income 850 718

Total Comprehensive Income for the period 15,257 866

Refer also to Note 50 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Comprehensive Income - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.
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Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 21 48,447 10,515

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 22 18 12

Inventories - maps 21 23

Receivables 23 12,982 24,986

Amounts receivable for services 25 5,233 4,450

Prepayments 26 1,716 902

Accrued interest 27 423 143

Total Current Assets 68,840 41,031

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2012
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Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 22 1,722 1,446

Amounts receivable for services 25 24,708 26,663

Receivables 23 2,331 1,215

Other Financial Assets 24 6,348 1,667

Furniture, equipment and plant 28 4,184 4,330

Leasehold improvements 28 6,916 8,572

Intangibles 28 20,744 25,027

Building 28 43,500 43,500

Land 28 11,519 12,018

Deferred tax assets 35 5,750 5,491

Total Non-Current Assets 127,722 129,929

TOTAL ASSETS 196,562 170,960

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 30 7,850 5,567

Current tax liabilities 5,191 289

Finance lease 31 2,512 2,262

Provisions 32 14,045 12,779

Other current liabilities 33 4,223 5,767

Total current liabilities 33,821 26,664

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease 31 28,314 31,533

Provisions 32 4,112 4,623

Total non-current liabilities 32,426 36,156

TOTAL LIABILITIES 66,247 62,820

NET ASSETS 130,315 108,140
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

EQUITY 34

Contributed equity 81,420 74,502

Reserves 20,896 20,046

Retained earnings 27,999 13,592

TOTAL EQUITY 130,315 108,140

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Changes in Equity - For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note

Contributed 
Equity
($000)

Reserves
($000)

Retained 
Earnings

($000)
Total Equity

($000)

Balance at 1 July 2010 34 74,942 19,328 13,444 107,714

Surplus/(Deficit) 0 0 148 148

Other comprehensive income for the period 0 718 0 718

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 718 148 866

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0

   Other contributions by owners 8 0 0 8

   Distributions to owners (448) 0 0 (448)

Total (440) 0 0 (440)

Balance at 30 June 2011 74,502 20,046 13,592 108,140

Balance at 1 July 2011 34 74,502 20,046 13,592 108,140

Surplus/(Deficit) 0 0 14,407 14,407

Other comprehensive income for the period 0 850 0 850

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 850 14,407 15,257

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 6,918 0 0 6,918

   Other contributions by owners 0 0 0 0

   Distributions to owners 0 0 0 0

Total 6,918 0 0 6,918

Balance at 30 June 2012 81,420 20,896 27,999 130,315

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows - For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts

Provision of services 114,049 83,898

Sale of land information data and imagery 7,585 6,729

Commonwealth Contributions 624 1,081

Interest received 1,261 752

GST receipts on sales 1,283 1,382

GST receipts from taxation authority 2,932 4,196

Other receipts 1,692 2,381

Payments

Employee benefits (74,654) (69,991)

Supplies & services (23,020) (24,126)

Other expenses (11,265) (10,105)

Accommodation (4,387) (3,598)

Finance costs (5,773) (5,679)

GST payments on purchases (4,686) (5,017)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 36(b) 5,641 (18,097)
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 0 11 

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (4,794) (11,957)

Investments (5,430) (1,667)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (10,224) (13,613)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments

Finance lease payments (2,263) (2,083)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (2,263) (2,083)
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

Note
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash flows from State Government

Service appropriations 35,499 31,066

Holding account drawdowns 4,450 183

Capital Appropriations 6,918 0

Taxation equivalents - payments (1,807) (67)

Net cash provided by State Government 45,060 31,182

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38,214 (2,611)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 11,973 14,584

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 36(a) 50,187 11,973

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Although the Authority is required to operate on prudent commercial principles, Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’ designates the Authority as a not-for-profit entity for purposes of compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards..

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurers Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements’. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by 
the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions that governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention except land and building which are periodically 
valued to fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the  Authority’s 
accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Authority.  There are no “related bodies”.  

(d) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

(e) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as 
a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s 
Instruction 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and are credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where 
the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See Note 34 ‘Equity’.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(f) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. Where the rendering of services can not be 
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership and control transfer to the purchaser and 
can be measured reliably.      

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Authority gains control of the appropriated funds. The Authority gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Authority’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury. See Note 19 for further commentary on 
service appropriations.

Grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue from grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value 
can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the end of the reporting period, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions 
are disclosed in the notes.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Gains/losses  

Realised and unrealised gains/losses are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains/losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non current assets.

(g) Income tax

The Authority operates within the national tax equivalent regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent amount in respect of income tax is payable to the WA Treasury. The 
calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed by NTER guidelines and directions approved by Government.  

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority is required to comply with AASB 112 ‘Income Taxes’.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rate expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on 
those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences 
to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred 
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the 
transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, and directly in equity are recognised directly in equity.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(h) Furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, land and building

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements and building costing over $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total or where the asset is capitalised for management purposes).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, land and building are initially recognised at cost.    

For items of furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, land and building acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and building and the historical cost model for furniture, 
equipment and leasehold improvements.  Land is carried at fair value less accumulated impairment losses. The building is carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses.  Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to the recent market transactions, where market based 
evidence is available.  This is typically the case for land within the Perth metropolitan area. Land outside the Perth metropolitan area is valued on the basis of existing 
use, where market based evidence is not available.  The fair value of the building is determined on the basis of market buying values by reference to recent market 
transactions. When the building is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

Valuations are provided annually by the Valuer General and will be assessed by the Authority at 30 June each year. Where the valuation differs materially from the assets’ 
carrying value the valuation will be brought to acccount.                  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.
(h) Furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, land and building - cont.       

Derecognition           
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of land and building, any revaluation surplus relating to that item is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.     
       
Asset revaluation surplus          
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 28 ‘Furniture, equipment, 
leasehold improvements, intangibles, land and building’.          
           
Depreciation/amortisation          
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits.

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation/amortisation of other assets is calculated on the straight line basis, using rates which are reviewed annually.    

Estimated useful lives for each class of asset are:            
Furniture      11 years     
Equipment    8 - 15 years     
Computer equipment   3 - 5 years         
Leasehold Improvements  8 - 15 years     
Building     50 years     
           
Leasehold Improvements under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Leasehold Improvements’.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(i) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Acquired and internally generated intangible assets costing over $5,000 are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives.  
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates 
which are reviewed annually.  All intangible assets controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value.  The estimated useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset is: 
 
Service delivery software and related project costs  1-10 years
 
The value of intangible assets include: 

major computer software packages acquired plus costs associated with preparing the software for its intended use and; »
major internally developed software plus the associated development costs. »

 
Intangible assets under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Service Delivery’.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the future recoverability can reasonably be 
regarded as assured.  Other development costs are expensed as incurred.     
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(j) Impairment of assets

Items of furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, land, building and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.   Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated or where the replacement cost is falling or where there 
is a significant change in the useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of assets’ future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

See Note 29 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

See Note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and Note 23 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.    



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 69L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period. See Note 32 ‘Provisions’.   

(i)  Provision - employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(i)  Provision - employee benefits - cont.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as  non-current liabilities because the Authority 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred leave 
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year 
of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as 
annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave 
The provision for purchased leave relates to employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per calendar year. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. This 
liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave and is reported as part of annual leave provision.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements.

Eligible employees contribute to  the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987 or the Gold State Superannuation 
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Authority to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(i)  Provision - employee benefits - cont.

The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits 
attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions 
made by the Authority to the GESB.  The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in 
respect of the concurrently funded GSS obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members 
of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS).  Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able 
to choose their preferred superannuation fund.  The Authority makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of the WSS and GESBS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See also Note 2(l) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii)  Provisions - other

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
Authority’s ‘Employee benefit expenses’.  The related liability is included in the Employment on-costs provision.  

See Note 15 ‘Other Expenses’ and Note 32 ‘Provisions’.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont

(l) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, and 
the GESBS. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(m) Leases

The Authority has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for buildings, office equipment and vehicles where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held under the operating leases. Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the 
leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as leased land and building. 
The leased building is depreciated over the period during which the Authority is expected to benefit from its use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont

(n) Financial instruments

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Authority has two categories of financial instruments: 

Loans and receivables; and »

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  »
 
Financial Instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents »

Restricted cash and cash equivalents »

Amounts receivable for services »

Receivables    »

Investments »
 
Financial Liabilities 

Payables »

Finance lease liabilities »

Other current liabilities »
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value. The transaction cost or face value is equivalent to the fair value. Subsequent measurement is 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is 
not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

See Note 40 ‘Financial Instruments’. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
 

(p) Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. The 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount 
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

See Note 2(n) ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 23 ‘Receivables’. 

(q) Investments and other financial assets

Investments are initially measured at cost where there is no active market for the investment and fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont

(r) Interest in Jointly Controlled entities

Interests in Jointly Controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, as required by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’.                      

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Authority’s share of the profit 
or loss of the jointly controlled entity after the date of acquisition. The share of the profit or loss of the jointly controlled entity is recognised in the Authority’s Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Distributions received from the jointly controlled entity reduce the carrying amount of the investment.  

See Note 24 ‘Other financial assets’.
 

(s) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (see Note 22 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts transferred annually into a suspense account over a 
period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the normal 26. 

Accrued salaries (see Note 30 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a few days 
of the financial year end.  The Authority considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value. 
 

(t) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Authority receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable). The 
accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover asset replacement.

See also Note 19 ‘Service Appropriations’ and Note 25 ’Amounts receivable for services’. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont

(u) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services at fair 
value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  

See also Note 2(n) for ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 30 ‘Payables’.

(v) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised at fair value. Where the resources received represents a service that 
the authority would pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipt of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.
 

(w) Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates in existence at the dates of the transactions. 
 

(x) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the 
majority being valued at average cost.
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3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The judgements made by management in the process of applying accounting policies had no significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.    
 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

There were no key assumptions made concerning the future, and no other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.   
 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the 
Authority.

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence 
Project, removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between 
Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard - cont.

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13]

The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk. The carrying amount of financial assets that would 
otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed. There is no financial impact.

The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the presentation of the statement of changes in equity. The disaggregation of other comprehensive income 
reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and the end of the period for each component of equity can be presented in either the Statement of 
Changes in Equity or the Notes. There is no financial impact.  

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & 7] 

This Standard introduces additional disclosures relating to transfers of financial assets in AASB 7. An entity shall disclose all transferred financial 
assets that are not derecognised and any continuing involvement in a transferred asset existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the related 
transfer transaction occurred. There is no financial impact.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard - cont.

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 
and Int 2, 112 & 113]

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to 
achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation [AASB 
127, 128 & 131]

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the 
consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, 
investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting entities that comply with Australian Accounting 
Standards. There is no financial impact.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any following Australian Accounting 
Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued and which may impact the Authority. Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these 
Standards and Interpretations from their application date:
                

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to  
accounting treatments.

The Standard was reissued in December 2010. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.  

1 Jan 2013



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 81L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010). As the Authority does not operate a defined benefit plan, the impact of the 
change is limited to measuring annual leave as a long-term employee benefit. The resultant discounting of the annual leave benefit 
has an immaterial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

1 Jan 2013
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures       

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards       

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing 
general purpose financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]       

[Modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 July 2013

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 
107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 
5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]        

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure
requirements for certain types of entities. There is no financial impact.

1 July 2013

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]      

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 9 in December 2010. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054]     

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is no financial
impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate 
Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]     

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing the
requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with
Australian Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no
financial impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 
7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]    

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The Authority has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 
110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 
19, 131 & 132]     

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049]     

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The Authority has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 July 2013

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-
8 and Int 14]     

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. There is limited financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements   

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119  
(September 2011). There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.
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(c) Changes in accounting estimates

There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect in the current period or is expected to have an effect in future periods.  

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 
& 141]     

This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising from AASB 
13 and the consequential amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.

1 July 2013

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.
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6. Services of the Authority

Information about the Authority’s services and the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to those services are set out in Note 50 ‘Schedule of Income and 
Expenses by Service’. 

The three services of the Authority and their objectives as at 30 June 2012 were:

Service 1: Land Information

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and made available for use by government, business and the 
community.

Service 2: Valuations 

An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Service 3: Access to Government Location Information

Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by improved data capture, access and usability of location information.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

7. Provision of services
Land Titles Management Fees

Search 33,482 26,522 

Transfer 17,902 15,762 

Mortgage 12,891 10,699 

Discharge 12,732 10,409 

Other (Plan Lodgements, Caveats, Applications etc..) 11,303 10,344 

88,310 73,736 

Valuation Services Fees 12,418 18,783 

Electronic advice of sale fee 1,083 735 

Interest Enquiry 42 2 

101,853 93,256 

8. Sale of land information, data and imagery
Consultancy services 813 558 

Imagery 1,539 1,958 

Land Information & Services 2,750 2,486 

Property Information & Services 2,206 1,626 

7,308 6,628 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

9. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants

  National Bushfire Warning System  (i) 1,178 277 

  Continuous Operating Reference Stations  (ii) 168 676 

1,346 953 

In accordance with AASAB 1004 Contributions, the Authority recognises contributions as income, when it obtains control over the income (usually when received), 
notwithstanding that there may be restrictions or conditions imposed on the use of the contributions.  

National Bushfire Prediction, Detection, Simulation and Early Warning System         i. 
The purpose of the project is for the Authority to develop a national system that will predict, detect and manage bushfires and provide this information to the National 
Telephone Early Warning System.

As at 30 June 2012, $710,391 of the contributions recognised as revenue was not spent. 

See Note 2(f) “Income”.         

Continuous Operating Reference Stations (CORS)ii. 
This contribution is for the construction of a permanent Global Navigation Satellite System, commonly known as Continuously Operating Reference Stations (CORS) 
in WA. 

Data from the CORS is used to support research into continental deformation; seismic monitoring; sea level variation; surface movement due to ground water 
changes; water vapour and atmospheric modelling for improved weather forecasting. 

As at 30 June 2012, the total contributions recognised as revenue had been spent.         

See Note 2(f) “Income”.         
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

10. Interest revenue

Interest on funds invested by the Department of Treasury 1,541 706 

1,541 706 

11. Other revenue
Project revenue 686 468 

WALIS - general 587 3 

Recovery of costs 159 251 

Sale of maps 89 100 

Government Vehicle Scheme 53 55 

Other services 34 51 

1,608 928 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

12. (a) Net gains/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Furniture, office and computer equipment

Cost 1,021 1,372 

Accumulated depreciation (1,017) (1,365)

Carrying amount of non current assets 4 7 

Less:  Proceeds from sale 0 11 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets (4) 4 

(b) Other gains/(losses)
Gain on investment - NECDL  (i) 493 0 

Total other gains/(losses) 493 0 

(i)  Refer Note 24(a) ‘Other financial assets’.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

13. Employee benefits expense
Salaries and wages (a) 61,214 56,025 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 6,494 6,710 

Annual leave (b) 5,674 5,965 

Long service leave (b) 2,727 2,313 

76,109 71,013 

(a) This includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component and payments associated with the Voluntary Separation Offer  
   (2012 - $5.9m; 2011 - $0).      

(b) This includes a superannuation contribution component.    

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at Note 15 ‘Other expenses’.

The employment on-costs liability is included at Note 32 ‘Provisions’.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

14. Supplies & services
Services and contracts - IT 15,356 15,630 

Services and contracts - others 7,943 8,800 

Agents commission 1,389 941 

Consultancy including legal costs 1,108 710 

Communications 489 621 

Travel 733 552 

Consumables 231 287 

27,249 27,541 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

15. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a) 3,828 3,830 

Grants & subsidies 600 631 

Other staffing costs 754 529 

Revenue refund - prior year 435 0 

Advertising 253 277 

Fringe benefit tax 222 237 

Insurance 369 224 

Minor purchases 268 183 

Hospitality 184 17 

Board and committee fees 145 144 

Membership fees 135 106 

Books, magazines, acts and subscriptions 92 94 

Share of loss accounted for using the equity method (b) 61 0 

Staff recruitment 57 94 

Bank charges 82 89 

Postage 81 89 

Printing costs 63 79 

Hire charges - furniture 120 66 

Cost of sales - maps 24 46 

Other expenses 422 342 

8,195 7,077 

(a)   This includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance
(b)  Refer Note 24(b) ‘Other financial assets’.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

16. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

  Furniture 8 7 

  Equipment 229 183 

  Computer equipment 1,030 1,304 

  Plant 9 22 

  Building 1,349 1,280 

2,625 2,796 

Amortisation

  Service delivery software and related project costs 6,271 7,263 

  Leasehold improvements 1,460 1,186 

7,731 8,449 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 10,356 11,245 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

17. Finance costs
Finance lease charges

  Land 115 123 

  Building 2,647 2,819 

2,762 2,942 

18. Accommodation expenses
Contingent rent - land and building 2,712 2,828 

Repairs and maintenance 1,425 1,269 

Utilities and statutory charges 1,242 1,033 

Lease rentals 1,120 514 

Minor works and alterations 286 259 

Other accommodation expenses 488 630 

7,273 6,533 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

19. Service appropriations
Appropriation revenue received during the reporting period 38,777 34,476 

Service appropriations are accrual amounts, reflecting the full cost of services delivered.  The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
(asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises an allocation based on the depreciation expense for the reporting period.  

20. Resources received free of charge

Resources received free of charge have been determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

  Department of Finance 436 393 

  Department of the Attorney General 647 339 

  Department of Transport 6 0 

1,089 732 

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the Authority recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets 
and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised 
as assets or expenses, as applicable.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

21. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 21 31 

Operating bank account 48,426 10,484 

48,447 10,515 

22. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Paid Parental Leave (a) 6 0 

VAR Security Deposit (b) 12 12 

18 12 

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense  (c) 1,722 1,446 

(a) Funds received from the Commonwealth Government for the Paid Parental Leave Scheme unpaid at year end.
(b) Security deposit received from Value Added Resellers.  
(c) Amount held in the suspense account is only used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 98L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

23. Receivables
Current

Trade debtors 9,409 22,997 

Escrow Deed - NECDL (a) 1,181 0 

Accrued revenue 1,769 1,812 

Goods and services tax 671 201 

13,030 25,010 

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables  * (48) (24)

12,982 24,986 

Non-current

Accrued revenue 2,331 1,215 

2,331 1,215 

(a) Refer Note 24(a) ‘Other financial assets’.

* - Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables:

Balance at the start of year 24 22 

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 45 2 

Amounts written off during the year (21) 0 

Amounts written back during the year 0 0 

Balance at end of year 48 24 

See also Note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and Note 40 ‘Financial instruments’.
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

24. Other financial assets
Non Current

(a) Investment  - National E-Conveyancing Development Limited (i) 6,229 1,667 

6,229 1,667 

(b) Investment in Jointly Controlled Entity - Earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (ii) 119 0 

119 0 

6,348 1,667 

Investment  - National E-Conveyancing Development Limited (NECDL). i. 
 
NECDL is an unlisted public company limited by shares, incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001.       
 
The object of the company is to create and operate a system to provide an efficient, competitive system to settle real property transactions, lodge instruments with 
Land Registries and pay associated duty and tax obligations electronically. 
 
The Authority has a 13.2% ownership interest in NECDL, this is represented by owning 5,013,970 fully paid ordinary shares at a cost of $6.229m.  
 
In 2011-12 the Authority was issued 328,792 shares in NECDL with a cost valuation of $493,188 in recognition of the Authority’s cash contributions towards the cost 
of intellectual property developed by the National Electronic Conveyancing Office (NECDL’s predecessor) and subsequently transferred to NECDL.  These shares are 
included in the above.    
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The Authority has applied and paid for a further 787,500 ordinary shares at $1.50 each, for a total cost of $1,181,250.  These shares are held in Escrow pursuant to a 
shareholder Escrow Deed (the Deed).  The terms of the Deed include that upon satisfaction of the Escrow Hurdle Requirements, the Escrow Agent will pay the above 
amount of the share application funds held in Escrow to NECDL, who is then required to issue the ordinary shares to the Authority.  As at 30 June 2012, the Second 
Escrow Hurdle Requirements were not yet satisfied.    
 
Until the share funds held in Escrow are issued, the Authority has recognised the purchase consideration of $1,181,250 as an asset - under Receivables. (Refer Note 
23 ‘Receivables’).  
 
This investment is measured at cost because as it is an unlisted company, there is no active market in which these type of shares are traded, and therefore, fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. 
 
 

Investment in a Jointly Controlled Entity - Earthmine Australia Pty Ltd. ii. 
 
In 2011-12, the Authority together with Geomatic Technologies (GT) and Earthmine Incorporated (EI), formed a company called Earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (eA), 
incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
eA commenced trading on 1 February 2012. 
 
The objective of eA is to provide Hi-Resolution 3D Street Level Imagery within Australia and New Zealand. 
 
The Authority has a 45% ownership interest in eA, represented by owning 180,000 fully paid $1 ordinary shares.  
 
GT and EI have ownership interests of 45% and 10% respectively. 
 
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’, the Authority is required to account for 
interests in Joint Ventures using the equity method of accounting. 

24. Other financial assets - cont
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The following is the Authority’s share of eA’s (unaudited) income and expenses, and assets and liabilities recognised in the financial statements:

24. Other financial assets - cont

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

Income 86 0

Expenses (147) 0

Net profit/(loss) before income tax (61) 0

Income tax (expense)/benefit 0 0

Net equity accounted profit/(loss) after income tax (61) 0

Current assets 119 0

Non-current assets 0 0

Total assets 119 0

Current liabilities 0 0

Non-current liabilities 0 0

Total liabilities 0 0

Net assets 119 0

The Authority does not have any contingent liabilities or commitments in respect to the eA investment.
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The Authority has an investment of one ordinary share in Public Sector Mapping Agency (PSMA) Australia Limited,  an unlisted public company limited by shares, iii. 
incorporated under the Corporations 2001 Act.  PSMA has 9 shareholders being the Commonwealth of Australia and each Australian State and Territory Government.  
Each share holder holds one fully paid $1 share.   
 
PSMA’s primary purpose is the building of national data sets to which all shareholders contribute data at no cost, and its activities are funded from the revenues it 
receives from data licensing, and data supply contracts with third parties.  Part of this revenue is distributed back to the shareholders at a rate determined by the 
Directors of PSMA.  
 
The Authority represents the WA Government on the Board of PSMA.  The Authority owns one fully paid $1 share, but does not have control or significant influence 
over the financial and operating policy decisions of PSMA.  
 
This investment is measured at cost because it is an unlisted company, and there is no active market in which these type of shares are traded, therefore, fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. 
 
The distribution received by the Authority in 2011-12 for the 2010-11 financial year was $164,350 (2010-11: $167,652).   
This revenue is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under ‘Sale of land information data and imagery’.

24. Other financial assets - cont
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

25. Amounts receivable for services
Current 5,233 4,450 

Non-current 24,708 26,663 

29,941 31,113 

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement. See Note 19 ‘Service 
appropriations’.

26. Prepayments
Information Technology Services 1,581 791 

Other 135 111 

1,716 902 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

27. Accrued interest
Interest on cash balances invested by the Department of Treasury 423 143 

28. (a) Furniture and equipment
Furniture

At cost 114 137 

Accumulated depreciation (58) (76)

56 61 

Equipment

At cost 2,481 2,508 

Accumulated depreciation (1,615) (1,476)

866 1,032 

Computer equipment

At cost 11,293 11,317 

Accumulated depreciation (9,260) (9,131)

2,033 2,186 

Total furniture and equipment 2,955 3,279 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

28. (b) Plant
At cost 176 175 

Accumulated depreciation (31) (22)

Written down value 145 153 

Works in progress at cost 1,084 898 

Total Plant 1,229 1,051 

Total furniture, equipment and plant 4,184 4,330 

(c) Leasehold improvements
At cost 12,609 12,302 

Accumulated amortisation (5,693) (4,791)

Written down value 6,916 7,511 

Work in progress at cost 0 1,061 

Total leasehold improvements 6,916 8,572 

(d) Intangibles
Service delivery software and related project costs

At cost 80,715 78,628 

Accumulated amortisation (66,922) (60,572)

Written down value 13,793 18,056 

Work in progress at cost 6,951 6,971 

Total intangibles 20,744 25,027 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

28. (e) Building under finance lease
At fair value  (i) 43,500 43,500 

Accumulated depreciation 0 0 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total building under finance lease 43,500 43,500 

(f) Land under finance lease

At fair value (i) 8,500 8,500 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total land under finance lease 8,500 8,500 

(g) Land reserves

At fair value  (i) & (ii) 3,019 3,518 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total land reserves 3,019 3,518 

Total land 11,519 12,018 

The buildings and associated land, and the land reserves were re-valued as at 1 July 2011 by the Authority’s Valuation Services Branch.  The valuations were i. 
performed during the year ended 30 June 2012 and recognised at 30 June 2012. The fair values of the building and land has been determined by reference to recent 
market transactions.

This represents Reserves for which the Authority became responsible since 1 July 2008. Prior to 1 July 2008 these Reserves were administered by the Department for ii. 
Regional Development and Lands on behalf of the Crown.
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29. (h) Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangibles, land and building at the beginning and end of the reporting 
period are set out below.

2012
Furniture 

($’000)
Equipment 

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)
Plant 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Plant 
($’000)

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Service 
Delivery, 
Software 

and 
Project 

Costs 
($’000)

Works in  
Progress 

Service 
Delivery 

($’000)
Land 

($’000)
Building 

($’000)
TOTAL 
($’000)

Carrying amount  at 1 July 2011 61 1,032 2,186 153 898 7,511 1,061 18,056 6,971 12,018 43,500 93,447

Additions 7 36 897 0 186 785 0 2,088 3,443 0 0 7,442

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,061) 0 (2,252) 0 0 (3,313)

Disposals (2) (1) (1) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4)

Revaluation increments/ 
(decrements) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (499) 1,349 850

Depreciation/ amortisation (8) (229) (1,030) (9) 0 (1,460) 0 (6,271) 0 0 (1,349) (10,356)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,211) 0 0 (1,211)

Adjustments (2) 28 (19) 1 0 80 0 (80) 0 0 0 8

Carrying amount at 30 June 2012 56 866 2,033 145 1,084 6,916 0 13,793 6,951 11,519 43,500 86,863
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29. (h) Reconciliations - cont.

2011
Furniture 

($’000)
Equipment 

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)
Plant 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Plant 
($’000)

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Service 
Delivery, 
Software 

and 
Project 

Costs 
($’000)

Works in  
Progress 

Service 
Delivery 

($’000)
Land 

($’000)
Building 

($’000)
TOTAL 
($’000)

Carrying amount  at 1 July 2010 71 895 2,899 0 729 4,351 4,464 19,754 15,035 13,998 42,550 104,746 

Additions 0 318 598 175 344 4,346 765 5,565 9,710 8 0 21,829 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 (175) 0 (4,168) 0 (7,300) (448) 0 (12,091)

Disposals 0 (3) (5) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8)

Revaluation increments/ 
(decrements) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,749) 2,230 481 

Depreciation/ amortisation (7) (183) (1,304) (22) 0 (1,186) 0 (7,263) 0 0 (1,280) (11,245)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (10,474) 0 0 (10,474)

Adjustments (3) 5 (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 209 0 209

Carrying amount at 30 June 2011 61 1,032 2,186 153 898 7,511 1,061 18,056 6,971 12,018 43,500 93,447
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

29. Impairment of assets
In accordance with the AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’, the Authority has reviewed its assets for impairment, including items in work-in-
progress as at 30 June 2012, and this impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.     

The impaired assets were intangibles (software), recognised in work-in-progress, and therefore not yet available for use.  It is considered that 
further development and completion of the software would not generate future economic benefits to the Authority.    

There were no other indications of impairment of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangible, land and building assets at 
30 June 2012.         

1,211 10,474

30. Payables
Accrued expenses 4,600 3,386 

Accrued salaries and wages 1,518 1,328 

Trade payables 1,732 805 

Other 0 48 

7,850 5,567 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

31. Finance lease
Current

Finance lease liabilities

    Land 105 94 

    Building 2,407 2,168 

Total current 2,512 2,262 

Non-Current

Finance lease liabilities 

    Land 1,179 1,314 

    Building 27,135 30,219 

Total non-current 28,314 31,533 

The land associated with the building is owned by the State Government of Western Australia and leased to a private sector entity until 14 March 2021. The private sector 
entity owns the building and has leased it to the Authority until 14 March 2021 after which ownership passes to the Government.  In the event of default, the estimated 
value of the remaining lease payment becomes due and payable to the private sector entity.         
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

32. Provisions

Current

Employee benefits provision (a)

  Annual leave (b) 4,048 3,335 

  Long service leave (c) 9,177 8,767 

  Deferred salary scheme (d) 79 56 

13,304 12,158 

Employment on-costs provision (e) 741 621 

Total current provisions 14,045 12,779 

Non-current

Employee benefits provision (a)

  Long service leave (c) 3,893 4,373 

3,893 4,373 

Employment on-costs provision (e) 219 250 

Total non-current provisions 4,112 4,623 
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2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

32. Provisions - cont.
(a)  Employee benefits as at 30 June 2012 includes $1.52m in respect of employer superannuation contributions, (30 June 2011 $1.39m).

(b)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,378 2,438 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 670 897 

4,048 3,335 

(c) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,025 2,995 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 10,045 10,145 

13,070 13,140 

(d)  Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 0 0 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 79 56 

79 56 
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2011
($’000)

32. Provisions - cont.
(e) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers 

compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included at Note 15 
‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-cost provision

  Carrying amount at start of the reporting period 871 898 

     Additional provisions recognised 469 422 

     Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (381) (449)

  Carrying amount at the end of the reporting period 959 871 

33. Other current liabilities
Unearned revenue 2,119 4,216 

Electronic advice of sale administration 958 872 

Revenue received in advance 331 284 

Payroll Tax 301 294 

Other liabilities 514 101 

4,223 5,767 
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2011
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34. Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets 
of the Authority.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets. 

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 74,502 74,942 

Capital appropriations (a) 6,918 0 

Other contributions by owners (b) 0 8 

Distribution to owners (c) 0 (448)

Balance at end of period 81,420 74,502 

(a) This represents funding provided to the Authority for the purchase of share equity in the National E-Conveyancing Development Ltd.    
 Refer Note 24(a) ‘Other financial assets’ for further details.

(b) This represents Land reserves transferred from Department of Regional Development and Lands to the Authority. 

(c) This represents Land reserves transferred out to other agencies now responsible for these reserves.  
See also Note 28(g) ‘Land reserves’.
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2011
($’000)

34. Equity - cont.
Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period 20,046 19,328 

Net revaluation increment/(decrements)

    Land reserves (499) (1,862)

    Land under finance lease 0 350 

    Building under finance lease 1,349 2,230 

    Deferred Tax (see Note 36 'Taxation equivalent') 0 0 

Balance at end of period 20,896 20,046 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in accounting 
policy Note 2(h).

Retained Earnings

Balance at start of period 13,592 13,444 

Result for the period 14,407 148 

Balance at end of period 27,999 13,592 

Total Equity 130,315 108,140 
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2011
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35. Taxation equivalent

The Western Australian Land Information Authority was included in the National Tax Equivalents Regime (NTER) for the first time on 1 January 
2007. The NTER requires the payment of income tax assuming the Authority is a non-government business.   

Major components of income tax expense as at 30 June 2012 are:

(a) Income tax expense

Current income tax 

Current income tax charge 7,132 673 

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (424) (73)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (259) 110 

Total Income tax expense 6,449 710 
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35. Taxation equivalent - cont.
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) applicable to accounting profit before income tax equivalents at the statutory income tax rate to 
income tax expense at the Authority’s effective income tax rate for the period ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 are as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents 20,856 858 

Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 30% 6,257 257 

Non-deductible expenses   410 561 

Temporary differences not recognised 206 0 

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (424) (73)

Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax 0 (35)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 6,449 710 
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35. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

       Assets         Liabilities        Net

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

Receivables (15) (7) 127 43 112 36 

Property, plant & equipment (32,619) (31,946) 32,032 31,426 (587) (520)

Payables (110) (36) 0 0 (110) (36)

Provisions (5,743) (5,471) 578 500 (5,165) (4,971)

Tax (assets) liabilities (38,487) (37,460) 32,737 31,969 (5,750) (5,491)

Set off of tax 32,737 31,969 (32,737) (31,969) 0 0 

Net tax (assets) liabilities (5,750) (5,491) 0 0 (5,750) (5,491)
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35. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax - cont.

Movement in Temporary Differences during the Year 

Balance
1 July 2011

$000

Recognised 
in Income

$000

Recognised
in Equity

$000

Balance 
30 June 2012

$000

Receivables 36 76 0 112 

Property, plant & equipment (520) (67) 0 (587)

Payables (36) (74) 0 (110)

Provisions (4,971) (194) 0 (5,165)

Tax (assets) liabilities (5,491) (259) 0 (5,750)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets.
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($’000)

36. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  (see Note 21) 48,447 10,515

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  (see Note 22) 1,740 1,458

50,187 11,973

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Profit/(Loss) after income tax equivalents  14,407  148 

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,356  11,245 

Impairment loss  1,211  10,474 

Expensed capital projects relating to prior years  810  1,358 

Resources received free of charge  1,089  732 

Doubtful debts expense  24  2 

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current assets 4  (4)

Adjustment relating to prior period revenue recognised 435 0 

Net gain on Investment in NECDL (493) 0 

Net loss on Share of Investment in Joint Venture 61 0 

Income tax equivalent benefit 6,449 710 

Grants and subsidies from State Government (39,866)  (35,208)
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2011
($’000)

36. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement - cont.
(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities - cont.

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Inventories  2  8 

Receivables  11,422  (9,356)

Prepayments  (813)  91 

Accrued interest  (280)  45 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable  2,152  (985)

Provisions  755  406 

Other liabilities  (1,633)  1,705 

Change in GST in receivables/payables  (451)  532 

Net cash used in operating activities  5,641  (18,097)
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37. Resources provided free of charge
During the reporting period the following resources in excess of $10,000 were provided to other agencies free of charge:

Department of Finance 10,857 10,481 

Department of Regional Development & Lands 4,163 4,068 

Department of Agriculture & Food 3,923 756 

Western Australia Police Service 1,175 469 

Department of Water 1,111 485 

Tourism Western Australia 764 0 

Department of Indigenous Affairs 481 423 

Public Transport Authority 450 361 

Department of Environment and Conservation 402 1,444 

Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia 392 489 

Department of Treasury 334 321 

Department of Health 309 427 

Department of Education 282 249 

Department of Planning 273 438 

Department of Transport 246 23 

Department of Fisheries 213 3 

East Perth Redevelopment Authority 206 180 

LandCorp 198 310 
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2011
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37. Resources provided free of charge - cont
The University of Western Australia 174 50 

Department of Mines & Petroleum 129 524 

Main Roads Western Australia 128 73 

Heritage Council of Western Australia 98 0 

Department of the Attorney General 80 212 

Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 53 27 

Department of Education Services 45 25 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 32 16 

Department of Training and Workforce Development 17 10 

Department of Local Government. 14 34 

Department for Child Protection 12 21 

Department of Communities Asset Management 12 0 

Department of Housing 5 18 

Corruption and Crime Commission 1 307 

Department of Commerce 1 13 

Parliament of Western Australia 0 17 

Port Headland Port Authority 0 343 

Western Australian Electoral Commission 0 123 

Local Government Grants Commission 0 21 
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2011
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37. Resources provided free of charge - cont
Office of Native Title 0 19 

Swan River Trust 0 17 

Dampier Port Authority 0 16 

Rural Business Development Corporation 0 15 

26,580 22,828 

Resources provided to other agencies which were less than $10,000 per agency: 23 33 

Resources provided free of charge to organisations other than departments and statutory authorities: 3,739 4,455 

Total resources provided free of charge 30,342 27,316 

The above figures are costed on the basis of full cost recovery.

38. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are 
payable as follows:

Within 1 year  10,532  8,442 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 20,791 24,653 

Later than 5 years 0 304 

31,323 33,399 



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 125L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

38. Commitments for expenditure - cont.
(b) Operating lease expenditure

These commitments are in respect of cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period date 
but not recognised as liabilities. These leases include office accommodation, office equipment and motor vehicles.

Within 1 year  1,004  2,055 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1,632  2,033 

Later than 5 years  405  411 

3,041 4,499 

Representing:

Cancellable operating leases 516 513 

Non-cancellable operating leases 2,525 3,986 

3,041 4,499 
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Included in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 32 'Finance Lease')  2,512  2,262 

Non-current (Note 32 'Finance Lease')  28,314  31,533 

 30,826  33,795 

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

38. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(c) Finance lease commitments

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  5,062  5,076 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  20,305  20,305 

Later than 5 years  18,829  25,381 

Minimum finance lease payments  44,196  50,762 

Less future finance charges  (13,370)  (16,967)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 30,826 33,795 

The present value of finance lease payable is as follows

Within 1 year  2,512  2,262 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  12,448  11,182 

Later than 5 years  15,866  20,351 

Present value of finance lease liabilities  30,826  33,795 
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38. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(c) Finance lease commitments - cont.

Under the terms of the finance leases, the State Government will gain ownership of the building and resume control of the associated land when the lease 
expires in March 2021. The lease contains an escalation clause under which the minimum lease payments are increased by the movement in the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) every six months.  Any excess of lease payments above the minimum lease payments set at the lease inception in September 1993 is 
deemed contingent rent and is expensed each year.

In September 2013 the lease payments (minimum lease payments plus contingent rent) will be reset to an equivalent market rent.  Any excess of the lease 
payments above the minimum lease payments set at the lease inception will continue to be accounted for as contingent rent.  The new lease payments will 
then escalate by the movement in the CPI every 6 months until the lease expires.
 
In the event of payment default, the remaining lease payments become due and payable.

The finance lease does not impose restrictions on other financing transactions.       

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

38. Commitments for expenditure - cont.
(d) Other expenditure commitments

These expenditure commitments relate to general administration expenses including IT services, software licensing and maintenance, 
photographic services and building maintenance, and are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  28,551  29,129 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  52,3822  66,221 

Later than 5 years 0  8,715 

80,933 104,065 

These commitments are all inclusive of GST.
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39. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

(a) Remuneration of members of the accountable authority 

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for 
the financial year fall within the following bands are:

         

$ $ 2012 2011

0 -  10,000 1 0

10,001 -  20,000 1 1

20,001 -  30,000 3 3

30,001 -  40,000 1 1

40,001 -  50,000 1 1

280,001 -  290,000 0 1*

300,001 -  310,000 1* 0

8 7

* - Includes the Chief Executive who is a senior officer and a member of the accountable authority.

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority is: 468 433  

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the accountable authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
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40. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers - cont.

(b) Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ $ 2012 2011

70,001 -  80,000 0 1

80,001 -  90,000 0 2 #

150,001 -  160,000 0 0

160,001 -  170,000 0 1

170,001 -  180,000 0 1

180,001 -  190,000 1 1

190,001 -  200,000 2 0

200,001 -  210,000 1 0

4 6

# - Includes retirement entitlements of $36,778.

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 788 773  

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers 
reported as members of the accountable authority.

No senior officer was a member of the Pension Scheme as at 30 June 2012.
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40. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash  equivalents, receivables, investments, amounts receivable for 
services, payables, finance lease liabilities and  other current liabilities. The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk  management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those 
assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 40(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 23 ‘Receivables’.

The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers  with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Overdue customer accounts are regularly reviewed, and credit may be suspended until the account is brought up to date. Where it is economic to do so, the Authority 
refers large unpaid debts to a debt collection agent for further action, including legal proceedings.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable data indicating changes in client credit ratings. For financial 
assets that are either past due or impaired, see Note 40(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.
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40. Financial instruments - cont.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The Authority’s trading in foreign currency is minimal. The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk primarily on cash and cash equivalents. There 
are no borrowings or Treasurer’s advance other than finance leases (fixed interest).
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40. Financial instruments - cont.

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 48,447 10,515 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,740 1,458 

Amounts receivables for services 29,941 31,113 

Receivables (i) 14,642 26,000 

Investments 6,348 1,667 

101,118 70,753 

Financial Liabilities

Payables 7,850 5,567 

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 1,284 1,408 

   Building 29,542 32,387 

Other current liabilities 4,223 5,767 

42,899 45,129 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST receivable from the ATO.
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40. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit Risk 
The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but 
not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Authority. The Authority does not hold any collateral 
as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Aged analysis of Financial Assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Not 
past due
and  not
impaired

($’000)

Up to 
1 month

($’000)

1 - 3 
months
($’000)

3 months 
to 1 year

($’000)

1 - 5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Impaired 
financial 

assets
($’000)

Financial assets

2012

Cash and cash equivalents 48,447 48,447

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,740 1,740

Receivables (a) 14,642 14,244 374 12 12

Investments 6,348 6,348

Amounts receivable for services 29,941 29,941

101,118 100,720 374 12 12 0 0 0

2011

Cash and cash equivalents 10,515 10,515

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,458 1,458

Receivables (a) 26,000 25,566 357 67 10

Investments 1,667 1,667

Amounts receivable for services 31,113 31,113

70,753 70,319 357 67 10 0 0 0

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

40. Financial instruments - cont.
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40. Financial instruments - cont.
Liquidity risk
The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity 
analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest Rate exposure and Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2012

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Fixed
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Variable
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Non
Interest 
Bearing

($’000)

Nominal 
Amount

($’000)

Up to 1
month
($’000)

1-3
months
($’000)

3 months 
to 1 year

($’000)

1-5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4.746 48,447 48,426 21 48,447 48,447

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 4.746 1,740 1,740 1,740 1,740

Receivables (a) 14,642 14,642 14,642 14,642

Investments 6,348 6,348 6,348 6,348

Amounts receivable for services 29,941 29,941 29,941 408 1,006 3,819 21,061 3,647

101,118 0 50,166 50,952 101,118 65,237 1,006 3,819 21,061 9,995

Financial liabilities

Payables 7,850 7,850 7,850 7,850

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 8.46 1,284 1,284 1,841 18 35 158 846 784

   Building 8.46 29,542 29,542 42,355 404 809 3,639 19,459 18,044

Other liabilities 4,223 4,223 4,223 4,223

42,899 30,826 0 12,073 56,269 12,495 844 3,797 20,305 18,828
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40. Financial instruments - cont.

Interest Rate exposure and Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2011

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Fixed
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Variable
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Non
Interest 
Bearing

($’000)

Nominal 
Amount

($’000)

Up to 1
month
($’000)

1-3
months
($’000)

3 months 
to 1 year

($’000)

1-5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5.030 10,515 10,484 31 10,515 10,515

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 5.030 1,458 1,458 1,458 1,458

Receivables (a) 26,000 26,000 26,000 24,785 1,215

Investments 1,667 1,667 1,667 1,667

Amounts receivable for services 31,113 31,113 31,113 372 744 3,334 20,251 6,412

70,753 0 11,942 58,811 70,753 37,130 744 3,334 21,466 8,079

Financial liabilities

Payables 5,567 5,567 5,567 5,567 

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 8.46 1,408 1,408 2,114 18 36 157 846 1057

   Building 8.46 32,387 32,387 48,648 405 810 3,650 19,459 24,324

Other liabilities 5,767 5,767 5,767 5,767

45,129 33,795 0 11,334 62,096 11,757 846 3,807 20,305 25,381

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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40. Financial instruments - cont.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on 
the surplus for the period and equity for a 100 basis point in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period.

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost  or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

-100 basis points +100 basis points

 Carrying amount 
$000

 Profit 
$000

 Equity 
$000

 Profit 
$000

 Equity 
$000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  48,426  (484)  (484)  484  484 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  1,740  (17)  (17)  17  17 

Total Increase / (Decrease)  (501)  (501)  501  501 

2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  10,484  (105)  (105)  105  105 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  1,458  (15)  (15)  15  15 

 (120)  (120)  120  120 



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 138L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2012 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

41. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities 
In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Authority has the following contingent liabilities: 

The Authority has pending or potential litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of $2,271,160.i. 

There is potential for Copyright Agency Limited and/or individual surveyors to claim against the State of Western Australia and/or the Authority in ii. 
respect of:

copying surveyors’ plans for public use; anda. 

the Authority’s use of plans to create products and services following the decision of the Federal Court of Australia in b. Copyright Agency Limited v 
State of New South Wales [2007] FCAFC 80 (5 June 2007) and the decision of the High Court of Australia in Copyright Agency Limited v State of 
New South Wales [2008] HCA 35 (6 August 2008).

Contingent assets 
The Authority has no contingent assets other than those reported in the financial statements. 
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42. Intellectual property 

The Authority’s intellectual property consists of software; data; records created and processes developed by the Authority as a result of its activity and 
transactions; publications; products; trademarks and know-how; in the categories listed below.   
 
At the end of the reporting period the intellectual property cannot be reliably measured, and accordingly has not been recognised as an asset in the 
financial statements.  Moreover, AASB 138 ‘Intangible Assets’ does not allow internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and 
items similar in substance to be recognised as assets in the financial statements:

Air Photography1. 

A collection of single images and mosaics of Western Australia.  The collection dates from 1948 to the current time and has significant historical 
importance. 

Spatial Cadastral Database2. 

Information about land parcel boundaries including freehold and crown lots. Also includes lodged cadastral boundaries, control marks, easements, 
surveyed mining tenement and administrative boundaries.

Geodetic Survey Marks Database3. 

Information that maintains a viable reference framework infrastructure for all survey, mapping and associated land information purposes in Western 
Australia.

GEONOMA Database4. 

Place, feature and road name information for Western Australia, including position, origin, meaning and classification of names.

Various Registered Trademarks, Internet domain names and Business names.5. 

Copyright, design, artwork and “know how” related to mapping products (digital and analogue), publications (including internet design).6. 
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42. Intellectual property - cont.

Copyright on the software code for application and web services and the associated documents and process maps used for their specification and 7. 
description.

Tenure 8. 

*  Tenure Systems - systems containing descriptions of how land is held, e.g. freehold or reserve. 
*  Title and Document Images and hardcopy - digital and historical hard copies of titles, surveys and documents that are held in a central location.

Topographic Database/Geodatabase9. 

Repository of all geographic land information stored in terms of relief, cultural, transport, road centreline, hydrography, coastlines and points of 
interest.

Satellite Imagery 10. 

Digital datasets of satellite acquired images maintained in a catalogue archive.

Native Title Database 11. 

Spatial data depicting external boundaries of Native Title Applications and Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs). Native Title Applications are 
separated into four datasets -

* Applications filed in the Federal Court.

* Applications registered with National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT).

* Determined Applications.

* Registered Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs).

Thematic Databases12. 

Data fundamentally used in the preparation of thematic mapping products, e.g. StreetSmart Touring Maps, City and Town Series, Street Express, 
Street Directory, Emergency Service Directories and WA Travellers Atlas.
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42. Intellectual property - cont.

Land and Property Improvements Database 13. 

A repository that contains a description of the physical characteristics of land and improvements to land.

Land Valuations Database14. 

A database of current and previous values determined by the Valuer General.

Property Sales and Rentals Database15. 

A repository of historical sales and rental information integrated with land and property descriptions.

Computer Assisted Valuation Methodology16. 

A suite of integrated software that assists with the mass appraisal of values.

Work Management System Database17. 

A suite of software that provides the recording and allocation of human resources across services.

Property/Valuation GIS18. 

Integrated spatial and textual data displayed via a customised suite of software.

Customer Information19. 

A collection of lists and databases that make up the Authority’s information, location data, commercial activity and interactions.

TRIM Database20. 

A register of hard copy records. 

Property Street Address Database21. 

A database of current property street address details and geocodes of all property in Western Australia.
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42. Intellectual property - cont.

Soil Grade Classification Sketches22. 

Analogue Soil Classification Sketches for agricultural land throughout Western Australia used for rating valuations.

Algorithms and Techniques23. 

Various customised and novel Algorithms and Techniques to generate, depict and manipulate land and auxiliary information, digital geographic 
information, valuation and property information. 

The Innovation Forum database of ideas24. 

Collection of concepts, ideas and evidence around opportunities or issues related to the location information domain, and associated markets.

Statutory Approval Tracking System (StATS)25. 

A software system and database designed to allow agencies to record and produce reports on the status of approvals for priority projects in Western 
Australia

43. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There have been no significant events occurring after 30 June 2012 that affect these financial statements.
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2011
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44. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the reporting period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 143 141

45. Affiliated body

The Land Surveyors’ Licensing Board is an affiliated body in that it received administrative support and a grant of $13,400 from the Authority. 
The Board is not subject to the operational control of the Authority and reports to Parliament separately. 13 10
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46. Supplementary financial information

(a) Write offs

Bad Debts 

      - Approved by Accountable Authority 21 0

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public monies and public and other property through theft or default 0 2

Amount recovered 0 (2)

0 0

(c) Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by the Authority 3 1
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2011
($’000)

47. Special purpose accounts
Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management Act

Payroll Deductions

The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold income tax instalments deducted from salaries and wages of employees of Landgate 
Payroll.

Balance at the start of the year 0 0

Receipts 14,836 14,282

Payments

   The Australian Taxation Office (14,836) (14,282)

Balance at the end of the year 0 0

This special purpose account is reported on a cash basis.

48. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement
The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT) is recouped from the Commonwealth government.  

Balance at the start of the year 15 (8)

Receipts 80 94 

Payments (15) (71)

Balance at the end of the year  80  15 
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49. Explanatory statement 

This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2012 and between the actual results for 2011 and 2012. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $1m.

(i)  Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012

2012
Estimate 

($’000)

2012
Actual

 ($’000)
Variance

 ($’000)

Income

Provision of services 98,056 101,853 3,797 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 922 1,346 424 

Interest revenue 1,350 1,541 191 

Other revenue 1,398 1,608 210 

Other gains 0 493 493 

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 77,724 76,109 (1,615)

Supplies & services 28,459 27,249 (1,210)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 11,923 10,356 (1,567)

Accommodation 8,381 7,273 (1,108)

Impairment loss 0 1,211 1,211 

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Resources received free of charge 650 1,089 439 

Royalties for Regions 80 0 (80)
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49. Explanatory statement - cont.

Explanation of variations:

Provision of services
Provision of services was higher than the estimate as a result of the higher than anticipated activity levels from land titles and additional valuation services 
work.

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Revenue was greater than estimate due to the recognition of additional funding for the National Bushfire Warning System Project and the Continuous 
Operating Reference Stations Project that were not included in the estimate.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue was higher than estimate as a result of the higher than anticipated cash balance maintained throughout the year as a consequence of 
additional revenue from the provision of services and the delay in the commencement of several capital works projects.s.

Other revenue
Other revenue was higher than expected mainly as a result of additional revenue from project related activities. 

Other gains
Other gains was higher than estimate due to the recognition of the value of shares issued to the Authority in respect to the cash contributions paid towards 
the cost of intellectual property developed by the National Electronic Conveyancing Office (NECDL’s predecessor) and subsequently transferred to NECDL 
(see Note 24(a) ‘Other financial assets’).

Employee benefit expense
Employee benefit expense was less than estimate mainly due to the consequence of the Voluntary Separation Offer.

Supplies & services
Supplies and services were lower than expected as a result of an underspend in costs associated with the information technology contracts, operating 
leases and maintenance agreements and communication.
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49. Explanatory statement - cont.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense was lower than anticipated as a consequence of assets reaching the end of their useful lives and the delay in the 
completion of several capital works projects.

Accommodation
Accommodation expenses were lower than estimate due to the higher than anticipated savings from the rationalisation of accommodation, lower 
contingent rent on the finance lease for the Midland building and lower general outgoings.

Impairment loss
This cost is higher than estimate due to the recognition of the impairment loss associated with intangible assets (software) which would not have generated 
future economic benefits to the Authority (see also Note 29 ‘Impairment of assets’).

Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge was higher than the estimate as a result of additional notional charges associated with legal costs and procurement 
services.

Royalties for Regions
Royalties for regions funding expected in 2011/12 was not received as a result of a delay in the approval for the funding of the Location Information 
Strategy. 
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49. Explanatory statement - cont.
(ii) Significant variances between actual results for 2011 and 2012

2012 
($’000)

2011
 ($’000)

Variance
 ($’000)

Income

Provision of services 101,853 93,256 8,597 

Sale of land information data and imagery 7,308 6,628 680 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 1,346 953 393 

Interest revenue 1,541 706 835 

Other revenue 1,608 928 680 

Other gains 493 0 493 

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 76,109 71,013 5,096 

Other expenses 8,195 7,077 1,118 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,356 11,245 (889)

Accommodation 7,273 6,533 740 

Impairment loss 1,211 10,474 (9,263)

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 38,777 34,476 4,301 

Resources received free of charge 1,089 732 357 
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49. Explanatory statement - cont.

Explanation of variations:
Provision of services
Provision of services revenue was higher than 2010-11 due to additional revenue from land titles management partially offset by less valuation services 
work (as 2010-11 was the final year of the Triennial Metropolitan Revaluation Program).

Sale of land information data and imagery
Revenue from the sale of land information data and imagery was higher than 2010-11 due to more new business opportunities, and the release of new 
products from the increased activity in the market.

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth grants and contributions revenue was higher than 2010-11 due to additional funding received for the National Bushfire Warning System 
Project.    

Interest revenue   
Interest revenue was higher than 2010-11 as a result of a higher cash balance maintained throughout the year as a consequence of additional revenue from 
the provision of services and the delay in the commencement of several capital works projects.

Other revenue   
Other revenue was higher than 2010-11 due to revenue from the Seventh International Symposium on Digital Earth (ISDE) held in conjunction with the 
WALIS  Forum and the State Natural Resource Management Conference.

Other gains   
Other gains was higher than 2010-11 due to the recognition of the value of shares issued to the Authority in respect to the cash contributions paid towards 
the cost of intellectual property developed by the National Electronic Conveyancing Office (NECDL’s predecessor) and subsequently transferred to NECDL 
(see Note 24(a) ‘Other financial assets’).

Employee benefit expense  
Employee benefit expense was higher than 2010-11 mainly due to the payments associated with the Voluntary Separation Offer ($5.9m).
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49. Explanatory statement - cont.

Other expenses
Other expenses are higher than 2010-11 due to a refund of revenue that related to the prior financial year, and additional staff training and costs associated 
with the ISDE Conference and WALIS Forum.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense was lower than 2010-11 as a consequence of assets reaching the end of their useful lives.

Accommodation
Accommodation expenses were higher than 2010-11 mainly due to the adjustment resulting from the recognition of the Midland Building and associated 
land as a finance lease in 2010-11 and a general increase in costs relating to utilities, statutory charges and the Midland Building Maintenance Contract. 

Impairment loss   
This cost is lower than 2010-11 due to the recognition of the impairment loss in respect to the iLand program ($10.47m) in 2010-11.

Service appropriation   
Service appropriation were higher than 2010-11 mainly due to the additional funding received from the Department of Treasury for the Voluntary Separation 
Offer.    

Resources received free of charge   
Resources received free of charge was higher than 2010-11 as a result of additional notional charges associated with legal costs and procurement services.
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Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government
Location Information Total

Income
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)
2012

($’000)
2011

($’000)

Revenue

Provision of services 89,435 74,473 12,418 18,783 0 0 101,853 93,256

Sales of land information, data & imagery 7,308 6,628 0 0 0 0 7,308 6,628

Commonwealth grants and contributions 1,346 953 0 0 0 0 1,346 953

Interest revenue 1,365 625 165 76 11 5 1,541 706

Other revenue 1,021 925 0 0 587 3 1,608 928

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4

Other gains 493 0 0 0 0 0 493 0

Total income 100,968 83,608 12,583 18,859 598 8 114,149 102,475

Expenses

Employee benefit expenses 55,984 52,364 18,533 17,770 1,592 879 76,109 71,013

Supplies & services 25,233 26,050 1,059 1,035 957 456 27,249 27,541

Other expenses 5,924 5,398 1,670 1,495 601 184 8,195 7,077

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9,680 10,852 668 387 8 6 10,356 11,245

Finance Costs 2,447 2,606 296 315 19 21 2,762 2,942

Accommodation expenses 4,753 4,190 2,171 2,133 349 210 7,273 6,533

Impairment loss 725 10,474 486 0 0 0 1,211 10,474

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Total expenses 104,750 111,934 24,883 23,135 3,526 1,756 133,159 136,825

50. Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service*
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50. Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service* - cont.

Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government
Location Information Total

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2011
($’000)

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State Government (3,782) (28,326) (12,300) (4,276) (2,928) (1,748) (19,010) (34,350)

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 13,945 28,506 21,907 4,225 2,925 1,745 38,777 34,476

Resources received free of charge 896 631 190 98 3 3 1,089 732

Total grants and subsidies from State Government 14,841 29,137 22,097 4,323 2,928 1,748 39,866 35,208

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 11,059 811 9,797 47 0 0 20,856 858

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit (6,449) (710)

Profit/(loss) for the period 14,407 148

* The income and expenses by service reported for the year ended 30 June 2012 are based on the revised Outcome Based Management framework.  There are 
insignificant changes to the Land Information Service and nil changes to the Valuations Service.  The Access to Government Location Information Service is impacted 
as detailed above.         

The 2010-11 comparatives have not been amended as the new services were applicable from 1 July 2011.  They are provided for information purposes only.

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Certification of the Key Performance Indicators

In the opinion of the Board of Management, Western Australian Land Information Authority, the 
accompanying key performance indicators:

are based on proper records; »

are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Authority’s performance; and  »

fairly represent the Authority’s performance for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.   »

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

3 September 2012    

Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

3 September 2012
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Relationship to Government Goals

The following table illustrates the relationship between the Authority’s services, the desired outcomes and the relevant Government Goal.  The key effectiveness indicators 
measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the 
service delivered and the resources used to produce the service.  Refer to the Performance Management Framework section of the Annual Report for further details.

Government Goal Outcomes Services

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility:

Ensuring that 
economic activity is 
managed in a socially 
and environmentally 
responsible manner for 
the long-term benefit of 
the State

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are 
supported by a land information base and certainty of ownership and 
other interests in land.

Land Information 1. – 
Information about land ownership, land boundaries and 
geographic features is collected, recorded and made available 
for use by government, business and the community.

Independent valuations support government’s collection of rates and 
taxes and management of property assets.

Valuations2.  –  
An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information. Access to Government Location Information3.  – 
Effective access to land and location information can be 
demonstrated by improved data capture, access and usability of 
location information.

 

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Key Performance Indicators 2011/12
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Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land information base and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

The extent to which the currency and relevance of the Land Information Databases meet the needs of the Western Australian community.   

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Landgate maintains its strategic land information datasets in order that they are fit for purpose and match the level of land related activity and change through cyclical 
and targeted data revision.  Currency and relevance relate to how well the data itself is kept up to date and the support given to the many requests for new and revised 
information received through the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) Office. As the maintenance is needs-based, the achievement of set targets reflects 
the extent to which these user needs are met and therefore it is an indicator of effectiveness.

Percentage of work program completed
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Target

2011/12
Actual

2011/12

Extent to which the currency and relevance of the Land Information Databases meet the needs of the Western 
Australian community 

89% 99% 100% 99%
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How was the indicator derived? 

For 2011/12 the indicator is derived from those core land information databases that describe and record the location and physical attributes of the State’s infrastructure. 
Landgate’s geographic information focus is on location products and services with ongoing process improvement. 

The core databases are: 

Aerial Photography »

Property Street Addressing  »

Geographic Naming »

Spatial Cadastral Upgrade »

Medium Scale Topographic Data »

Large Scale Topographic Data »

The currency of the information provides a measure of Landgate’s effectiveness in responding to land development and social changes. Activity targets are set in 
response to administrative expectations relating to development and submissions to the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) Office.  They define the 
minimum required to maintain the land information base and deliver the needs at the levels of accuracy, currency and completeness expected by the users.
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What does this indicator show? 

The indicator shows how well Landgate has maintained its geographic location and land boundary information overall.  It is an average measured via achievement against 
targets for each of the core databases. These targets are gauged on Landgate’s capacity to satisfy an expected level of data maintenance and user community requests 
for new information as well as maintain cyclic revision programs agreed by the WALIS Council. 

In 2011/12 Landgate was on average 99% effective in meeting overall user expectations.  Exceptions against individual targets are described as follows:

Property Street Address maintenance actions in 2011/12 were slightly below the 48,960 estimate at 96%. This was commensurate with the level of development  »
activity.

The target for Geographic Naming has been based on an average expectation derived from previous annual approval rates for feature names. The target was  »
exceeded this year due to the continuation of a strategy to link topographic feature Points of Interest to the names register GEONOMA, which increased the 
throughput for topographic name approvals. 

Spatial Cadastral Upgrade during 2011/12, targeted parts all over the state, with continued progress towards the completion of the first pass as well as upgrade of  »
new subdivisions. Activity this year achieved significantly more than the target of 117,154 points upgraded.  The sharp increase in points upgraded (for the months of 
April, May & June) was the result of a data correction to 176,356 points on the Spatial Cadastral Database (SCDB).  

Activity associated with Medium-scale Topographic Data Revision is recorded as the number of feature edits applied to the Topographic Database; that is, feature  »
additions, modifications and deletions. As reported last year it is expected the estimate for this relatively new measure will experience some volatility until an 
indicative history is developed. This year the target of 371,357 actions was exceeded due to a collaborative project with the Department of Water. This work resulted 
in an abnormally large amount of edits to the database. This project has now been completed.

The 2011/12 revision of the Large-scale Topographic Database focused on Bunbury and various LGA’s within the Metropolitan Area.  A shortfall was recorded against  »
the numerical target measured as the number of 1:2000 sheet tile equivalents revised. This was predominantly due to the increased work effort required to capture the 
many infrastructure changes encountered and the time lag between revisions which increases the amount of change.  For 2012/13 Landgate will effect a change in 
revision methodology, approved by the WALIS Council, which now targets “higher value” data revision. The capture of these higher value Large Scale Topo features is 
slightly more labour intensive than the capture of other topo features.  The 2012/13 KPI target for Large Scale revision will reflect this change in capture methodology 
and align with the more meaningful reporting criteria of Medium Scale Topographic Revision.

Air Photo tasks are at 85% of target due to a contractor failing to capture and deliver contracted imagery by the required deadline. This resulted in Landgate  »
cancelling 27 1:100000 sheets and 1 Townsite for non-compliance in accordance with the Department of Finance and Landgate’s audit rules.
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Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land information base and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Claims against registered interests as a result of fraud, negligence or errors, settled by the Crown.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The indicator provides a measure of the State’s success in maintaining an accurate land titles register. It shows the settled claims against the State arising from fraud, 
negligence or errors involving the certainty of land ownership within the State.

Actual
2009/10

Actual
2010/11

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Number of claims settled by Crown 0 1 1 0
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How was the indicator derived?

The indicator is derived from a register that records new, current or rejected claims made for monetary compensation against the State concerning registered interests in 
land under the Transfer of Land Act 1893 (excludes minor ex gratia payments).

The following definitions apply:

“Fraud” means the illegal activities by a person or persons other than the registered owner or owners to effect changes to the existing interests recorded on a Certificate 
of Title or other land transaction document.

“Negligence or errors” means the actions or errors attributed to the Registrar of Titles or to conveyancers, but not detected, which affect the land register or clients’ ability 
to successfully complete land transactions.

What does the indicator show?

There were no successful claims for compensation against the State under the Transfer of Land Act 1893.  Based upon the small number of successful claims over the 
last five (5) years, no significant underlying trend involving fraud, negligence or errors is apparent.  
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Service 1:

Land Information

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and made available for use by Government, business and the 
community.

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 2):

(Note 1 – The average cost per land registration action target and actual for 2011/12 differs from what was previously reported as a consequence of a revised Outcome 
Based Management framework. This included a minor transfer of costs to Service 3.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land registration actions include a range of activities associated with registered land transactions.  The most common include document searches, examination and 
registration of interests on land.  The last two involve incorporating changes made to a Certificate of Title.  Typically, changes concern land ownership details on a title, 
applications for a new title for subdivisional land development, caveats, leases, powers of attorney, and other minor adjustments to land titles.

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of recording on Government guaranteed land titles the range of interests, boundaries and ownership relevant to that land.  
This is a clear indicator of the efficiency with which the land registration system and service is maintained.

Actual
2009/10

Actual
2010/11

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Average cost per land registration action (Note 1) $32.16 $39.69 $40.75 $36.84



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 162L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Key Performance Indicators 2011/12 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

How was the indicator derived?

The number of transactions is derived from a recording and checking system that reports the number of:

Documents examined for registration against the title;  »

Certificates of title created; »

Document search requests received; and »

Number of lots created. »

The cost of registration actions includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.  The cost of land registration actions is 
recovered via charges to users for each transaction.  Each charge is calculated on a full cost recovery basis.

What does this indicator show?

The increased activity in the property market resulted in a higher than expected number of land registration actions, ending the year 4.1% above target. This increased 
activity spreads the cost over a larger transaction base and when combined with cost saving initiatives the result is a reduced unit cost, 9.6% below target.
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Service 1:

Land Information

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and made available for use by Government, business and the 
community.

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 2):
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Target

2011/12
Actual

2011/12

Average cost per land information action (Note 1 & 2) $37.58 $18.49 $24.60 $18.00

(Note 1 - The average cost per land information action for 2010/11 and 2011/12 differs from what was reported in 2009-10 as a consequence of a change in the 
measurement methodology of actions for aerial photography.  Refer below for more details.

Note 2 – The average cost per land information action target and actual for 2011/12 differs from what was previously reported as a consequence of a revised Outcome 
Based Management framework. This included a minor transfer of costs to Service 3.)
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land information actions include a range of activities associated with the capture, production and maintenance of physical land and land boundary information in 
Landgate’s datasets. These datasets include information about:

Cadastre; »

Geodetic marks; »

Administrative boundaries; »

Landscape relief (ie contours); »

Cultural, or built environment, and natural features; »

Aerial photography; »

Satellite imagery; »

Geographic Names; »

Property Street Addresses; »

Road Centreline (ie position of constructed roads); »

Native Title Claims; and »

Baselines/territorial sea limits »

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of maintaining an up-to-date Government land information base and the costs involved represent a key indicator of 
efficiency.
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How was the indicator derived?

The number of actions is derived from recording systems that report the above list of items.

The cost of land information actions includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

The 2010/11 actual and 2011/12 target and actual are not directly comparable to previous years due to a significant shift in the capture methodology for aerial 
photography from analogue frames to direct digital continuous strips which can only be measured in terms of land area covered. The area of land visible on a frame 
of photography and measured in square kilometres (km²) is scale dependant but generally substantially more than the overall frame count for any land parcel. While 
this measure contributes to an apparent reduction in unit cost per land information action, the actual work value remains comparable to previous years. The 2009-10 
comparative has not been amended as it is only possible to approximate a frames to km² relationship

What does this indicator show?

The number of information actions achieved was 28.6% higher than the target and with costs being contained within budget due to efficiencies and cost savings 
initiatives the average unit cost was 26.8% below target. 

Continuing technology improvements to processes dealing with land boundary information actions continue to contribute towards improving this indicator.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 166L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
Key Performance Indicators 2011/12 - cont.

agency performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal complianceperformance management frameworkoverview of the authority

Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, and management of property assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

International standards for accuracy and uniformity of rating and taxing values are met.

Actual
2009/10

Actual
2010/11

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Benchmark against international standards for accuracy using Median Ratio Test:

Gross Rental Value 94.18% 92.2% >92.5% 93.25%

Unimproved Value 91.86% 92% >92.5% 92.59%

Coefficient of dispersion to check uniformity of values:

Gross Rental Value 3.96% 4.2% <7% 4.53%

Unimproved Value 4.28% 3.75% <15% 3.89%
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

State and local governments rely on impartial, uniform and accurate property values as a base for levying rates and taxes.  Therefore, measuring the uniformity and 
accuracy of valuations provides a useful indicator of our contribution to their effectiveness in meeting this outcome.

How was this indicator derived?

The uniformity and accuracy of Unimproved Values are checked against international ratio standards published by the International Association of Assessing Officers 
(IAAO) in their ‘Standard on Ratio Studies’. Coefficient of Dispersion (COD) and the Median Value Price Ratio (MPR) tests are the key standards. These are used 
extensively in both Australia and New Zealand.  Both were adopted as ideal indicators suited to Western Australia. Gross Rental Values are compared against our own 
standards developed in 1998 along similar lines to the IAAO land value standards. 

In relation to the MPR, the IAAO Standards state that “the overall level of appraisal for a jurisdiction.... for vacant land.... should be between 90 percent and 110 percent”, 
and that the “Coefficient of Dispersion (COD) for vacant land should be 20 percent or less”. In larger urban jurisdictions dealing with uniform land releases and availability 
of sales, the COD should be <15%. 
For Unimproved Values the Valuer General of Western Australia has set an MPR standard of >92.5% and a COD of <15%.

While there is currently no international standard for Gross Rental Values, the Valuer General has adopted the same accuracy and uniformity measures applying to 
Unimproved Values but with a tighter COD target of <7%.

The quality of the outcome is reflected in the extent to which the results exceed the minimum targets.
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What does this indicator show?

For Unimproved Values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR of 92.59% is 0.09% above the target >92.5%. This outcome is better than the results achieved in 2010/11 (92.20%) and 2009/10 (91.86%).  A contributing 
factor to this year’s result was that land values had generally stabilised around the date of valuation of 1 August 2011 after easing in previous years following the Global 
Financial Crisis. The MPR was determined on a statistical analysis which compared assessed values with sales occurring between 1 June and 31 August 2011. Any falls 
in value occurring towards the end of this period can have the effect of slightly increasing the MPR. 

The COD at 3.89% is well inside the international standard and falls between the 3.75% achieved in 2010/11 and 4.28% recorded in 2009-10. The COD is a measure of 
the divergence between the assessed land values and unadjusted selling prices over a designated period falling around the date of valuation. With the date of valuation 
set almost midway within this period, it is understandable that there can be increased pressure on the COD in a changing market than was the case during 2011/12 where 
land price movement was generally steady.     

For Gross Rental Values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR shows 93.25% against a target of >92.5% measured from a sample of 3,107 key rents. The outcome is similar to that achieved over the past 10 years where 
the CODs have fallen within a range of 92.18% to 94.44%. The MPR was determined on a statistical analysis which compared gross rental values with market based 
residential rents occurring between 1 January 2011 and 31 August 2011 and non-residential rents between 1 September 2010 and 31 August 2011 in country areas. Any 
increases in market rentals occurring towards the end of these periods can have the effect of slightly decreasing the MPR. 

Aside from being well within the adopted standard, the COD of 4.53% continues the gentle downward trend evident over the past six years where CODs have 
consistently been below 6% each year.  Taken together the results of these tests show a very satisfactory outcome.
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Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, and management of property assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Adjustments of rating and taxing values as a result of Objections and Appeals as a percentage of total values in force.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The percentage of values amended as a consequence of owners exercising their right to challenge values is a reasonable measure of the integrity and fairness of the 
values contained in Valuation Rolls.

Actual
2009/10

Actual
2010/11

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Adjustments to rating and taxing values as a result of Objections and Appeals as a percentage of total values in 
force

0.031% 0.0177% <0.2% 0.0211%
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How was this indicator derived?

The figure is derived by dividing the number of values that have been amended as a result of an objection or appeal by the total number of rating and taxing values in 
force.

What does this indicator show?

At 30 June 2012, there were 1,995,767 values in force in Western Australia. During the year 421 of these were amended as a result of formal objections determined by 
the Valuer-General or reviews by the State Administrative Tribunal. This indicates that only one in every 4,741 values was amended. The outcome remains well below the 
international standard and indicates a return to traditional levels after peaking in 2008-09 as a consequence of the increased volatility in the land market after the global 
financial crisis.   

Apart from demonstrating the effectiveness of the valuation process in WA, these results also show the stability of the valuation base and its general acceptance by 
ratepayers and taxpayers.
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Service 2:

Valuations

Service description:

An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The number of valuations made and the average cost per valuation provide a reliable measure of overall performance against forecast targets and previous years’ 
outcomes. Some variation does occur from year to year due to the cyclical nature of the gross rental valuation (GRV) program, with 2011/12 being the one year in three 
where very few GRVs are assessed in the Perth Metropolitan Region. 

During the year 1,315,100 values were made at an overall program cost of $24.9 million or $18.92 per value. This results in a 48% increase in the cost per value over the 
previous year where GRV revaluation activity was at its highest level in the Perth Metropolitan Region, however measured against the 2008/09 result, which was the same 
point in the previous three year cycle, the increase was only 7.7%. Part of the increased cost in 2011/12 was also attributed to the first full year of payment of valuers as a 
Specified Calling.  

Key Efficiency Indicator: 
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Target

2011/12
Actual

2011/12

Average cost per valuation $17.56 $14.91 $12.80 $17.66 $18.92
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How was this indicator derived?

Cost per value refers to the total cost per value of unimproved and gross rental values including general valuations, interim valuations, objections, appeals and queries 
made during the financial year, and other valuations including stamp duty, market, and asset valuations, and property related valuation consultancy services.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show?

The average cost per valuation of $18.92 was 7.1% more than the target of $17.66.  This was only 7.7% higher than the average cost per value of $17.56 incurred in 
2008-09 which was the same point in the previous Perth metropolitan GRV revaluation cycle. 

This outcome was a good result given the increased cost of valuers’ salaries and reflected the benefits flowing from a number of workplace reforms and modest staff 
turnover. 
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 3):

Use of location information

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new effectiveness indicators for this Outcome and therefore there are 
no comparatives.)

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Overall satisfaction with the capture of, access to and useability of Government Location Information. (Note 1) 50% 65%
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy (LIS) for Western Australia was endorsed by the Minister for Lands and approved by Cabinet in 2011. The goals of the LIS are 
to facilitate the State’s growth and sustainable development through improved use of location information.  This enables better informed government, industry and 
community decision making and streamline the capture and maintenance of government data.  Landgate, through the WALIS framework, is responsible for the overall 
coordination of the LIS. 

The key strategic initiatives for the LIS are: 

Strategic Capture of the State’s location information »

Enhanced access to location information »

Education and career development »

Citizen engagement through location technology »

Promoting and branding Western Australia »

The benefits of the Location Information Strategy can only be achieved if improvements to the strategic capture of and access to location (or spatial) information can be 
translated into increased use of location information across the public and private sectors. This indicator will provide a measure of how the business use of the location 
information captured and disseminated improves over time.

More effective capture, access and use of location information, and reducing duplication of effort across government, can be demonstrated through:

a more comprehensive and coordinated  » capture process through the State Land Information Capture Program (SLICP);

access »  to a wider range of data available through the Shared Land Information System (SLIP); and

regular surveys of customer  » usage of location information provided through these mechanisms.
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How was the indicator derived?

As this is a new effectiveness indicator based on the revised Outcome Based Management Framework, the 50% overall satisfaction as a target for 2011/12 is an estimate 
derived from elements of the WALIS Office Survey 2011 and the Landgate Customer Service Survey 2010 relating to SLICP and SLIP.  Although these surveys were not 
specifically done for this effectiveness indicator, they represent the best available information for the purpose of establishing a baseline estimate for 2011/12.  

The actual satisfaction level of 65% has been derived through independent survey results obtained in June 2012 and it is specific to this effectiveness indicator.  The 
survey will be conducted on an annual basis to address this indicator.

The independent survey consisted of two online questionnaires; a SLIP survey (for SLIP only users) and a SLICP survey (for SLICP and/or SLIP users).  Reliability and 
validity testing was undertaken prior to launch.  Data collection was done over a 2 week period with reminders sent weekly to non-respondents or partially completed 
surveys.  A total sample size of 393 SLIP users and 70 SLICP users was achieved.  Based on a sample size of 393 SLIP users, the margin of error at the 95% level of 
confidence is ± 3.08% - 7.06%.  Based on a sample size of 70 SLICP users, the margin of error at the 95% level of confidence is ± 2.03% - 4.06%.

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the level of satisfaction of WALIS community members in relation to the capture, access and useability of Government Location Information.  It 
provides insight into the way in which WALIS community members rate the effectiveness of data capture through SLICP and data access and ease of use through SLIP. 
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 3):

Strategic Capture – Participation

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new effectiveness indicators for this Outcome and therefore there are 
no comparatives.)

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Percentage increase in the number of requests submitted by agencies (manually and on-line) requesting data capture through the State Land 
Information Capture Program (SLICP). (Note 1)

100% 100%
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The SLICP is designed to reduce cost and avoid duplication in the capture of location information across the State of Western Australia by planning, recording and 
acquiring the information through one channel to ensure the most strategic use of resources.  Landgate through WALIS has simplified the SLICP process and is seeking 
to expand the SLICP to address the future needs of the State’s location information.   

How was the indicator derived?

Agencies submitting requests for SLICP manually and on-line form the basis of calculating the percentage increase / decrease in applications for agencies seeking data 
which is compared to the amount of submissions received the previous year.

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows that a percentage increase in the number of agencies taking part in SLICP leads to improvements in the use of strategic resources through reduced 
duplication of effort and cost savings for the State.  As this is a new effectiveness indicator and 2011-12 is being used to establish a baseline, 100% equates to a total of 
169 requests that were received for SLICP in 2011-12.
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Effectiveness Indicator (3 of 3):

Enhanced Access

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new effectiveness indicators for this Outcome and therefore there are 
no comparatives.)

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Volume of data consumed - 
Percentage increase in the total volume of data delivered (gigabytes) through Shared  Land Information Platform (SLIP) (Note 1)

100% 100%

Data Availability - 
Percentage increase in the number of datasets available through SLIP (Note 1)

100% 100%
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

SLIP provides a single point of access for whole of government and industry partners to use and share location information. It works by enabling data custodians to 
manage and disseminate their core location information through a single online point, ensuring all those accessing the information work off a common source of truth.

Highlighting the volume of data consumed and the number of datasets available in SLIP shows that Government agencies are embedding SLIP services into their 
systems and core business applications. 

Through measuring the increasing use of SLIP services and the number of datasets available highlights the value placed on SLIP by government and industry to facilitate 
access to needed source of truth location information. 

How was the indicator derived?

Volume of data consumed is measured in terms of the increase in the volume of data delivered through SLIP with a baseline being set during 2011-12 and future growth 
will be measured from that baseline.  The 100% baseline for 2011-12 represents a total volume of 2,402.46 gigabytes of data consumed. Reporting figures were gathered 
using SLIP Enabler Operations Reports. 

Data Availability is measured in terms of the increase in the number of datasets available through SLIP with a baseline being set during 2011-12 and future growth will be 
measured from that baseline.  The 100% baseline for 2011-12 represents a total of 2,131 datasets available through SLIP.
 

What does the indicator show?

The indicator shows that the value of information provided through a single access point is increasingly becoming more relied upon as a preferred data delivery channel. 
The increase in volume of data downloaded highlights that more organisations require access to data to carry out their duties. 

Measuring the increase of datasets available shows an increased reliance and trust put into SLIP to manage other agencies location information assets.
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Service 3:

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description:

Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by improved data capture, access and usability of location information.

Key Effectiveness Indicator:

Strategic Capture

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new efficiency indicators for this Service and therefore there are no 
comparatives.)

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Average cost of coordinating the SLICP per request for capture  (Note 1) $7,709 $6,834
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western Australia aims to increase the number of organisations actively participating in SLICP in order to better coordinate and 
reduce the costs of capturing location information, while also improving the efficiency of this process and reducing the cost of coordination.

How was the indicator derived?

The cost of coordinating and managing the SLICP (based on Landgate and WALIS Office resources used to manage the program) is compared with the number of 
capture requests received in order to derive an average cost per transaction.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.
 

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the impact of effective coordination of data capture on process improvements intended to reduce cost and duplication in data capture across the 
State.  As stated in Note 1 above, as this is a new efficiency indicator, the Actual for 2011-12 forms the baseline for future comparisons.
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Service 3:

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description:

Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by improved data capture, access and usability of location information.

Key Effectiveness Indicator:

Enhanced Access

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based Management framework has resulted in new efficiency indicators for this Service and therefore there are no 
comparatives.)

Target
2011/12

Actual
2011/12

Average cost per gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP   (Note 1) $1,014 $987
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western Australia aims to enhance SLIP to reduce the effort required to make data available through SLIP and ensure SLIP is the 
most cost effective solution to delivering location information from across the State to users. 

How was the indicator derived?

The cost per gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP is based on the resources needed to support SLIP customers and infrastructure cost to maintain SLIP (i.e. 
average cost per gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP).

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.
 

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows how the delivery (per Gigabyte) of data through SLIP Enabler positively impacts the State’s costs to coordinate and deliver its information.  This 
baseline is useful to measure against any changes, system updates and how information may be delivered in the future.  As stated in Note 1 above, as this is a new 
efficiency indicator, the Actual for 2011-12 forms the baseline for future comparisons.
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Ministerial Directives

Under section 65(3) of the Land Information Authority Act 2006, Landgate is required to include in its annual report the text of a written direction given to it by the Minister, 
relating to the performance of Landgate’s functions. There were no directions given during 2011/12.

Other Financial Disclosures

Pricing Policies of Service Provided

Landgate Pricing Policies

Under the Treasurer’s Instruction 903, section 13(i), Landgate is required to advise of the policies underlying the pricing of its goods and services and, where appropriate 
provide references to relevant public documents that contains pricing information. For the major categories of goods and services provided by Landgate, the following 
pricing policies apply:

Land Registrations

The setting of fees for land transaction documents, memorial registrations and survey plan lodgements are made pursuant to section 181of the Transfer of Land Act 1893; 
section 130 of the Strata Titles Act 1985; and section 22 of the Registration of Deeds Act 1856. The basis for determining the cost of these services is in accordance with 
the concepts set out in ‘Costing and Pricing Government Services’ produced by the Department of Treasury (Treasury).

The 2011/12 schedule of fees for these services was implemented on 1 July 2011, in accordance with theTreasury’s annual budget cycle. The amending regulations for 
the 2011/12 schedule of fees were published in the Government Gazette on 14 June 2011.

Land Searches

Similarly, the schedule of fees for inspecting and copying (searching) land registration information, including Certificates of Title, survey plans and documents were 
implemented on 1 July 2011. The schedule of fees for these searching services were implemented in accordance with the Treasury annual budget cycle. The amending
regulations for the 2011/12 schedule of fees were published in the Government Gazette on 14 June 2011.
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Other Financial Disclosures - cont.

Land Valuations

Pricing for valuations and valuation consulting services are made under the powers contained within the Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Land Information Authority Act 
2006. Landgate’s pricing framework also applies.

Other Goods and Services

These products and services cover a broad range of technical and market driven endeavours and include: 

Maps and aerial photography »

Remote sensing satellite imagery »

Native Title mapping »

Geospatial data sales »

Property value and sales information »

Land information enterprises  »

Land and property market »

Prices of non-regulatory goods and services produced and delivered by Landgate are determined in accordance with Landgate’s Pricing Framework.

This framework ensures that the Authority complies with the pricing principles as detailed in section 16 of the Land Information Authority Act 2006, with state government 
policy for the pricing of land information and with government requirements for the costing and pricing of goods and services.

The framework includes processes and procedures to ensure prices are set in a transparent, methodical and accountable way.

Prices applying to these products and services are available from Landgate’s Midland office, Landgate’s Cloisters office and online.
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Capital Works

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2012 was as follows:

Minor delays were experienced across all programs causing work to be carried over for completion in the early stages of 2012/13.  The $0.391m is committed expenditure 
as at 30 June 2012. 

Landgate’s capital works consists of five programs:

Spatial Infrastructure

This program supports improvements in the collection and maintenance of location information that is the basis of Landgate’s operations and crucial to the operations of 
government, industry and the wider community. This program ensures the data meets the quality requirements of users and has included the iSpatial program designed to 
modernise systems and processes associated with producing location products. Closely linked with the Location Information Strategy, Landgate together with a number of 
Public Sector Agencies are collaboratively working together to develop datasets and share information which will create sector wide efficiencies.   

Program
Capital Expenditure 

($’000)
Estimated Cost to 

Complete ($’000)

Spatial Infrastructure 1,119  126

Commercial Products and Services 1,302    33

Asset Replacement 1,794    57

Business Infrastructure    882               150

Business Reform Initiatives 1,400    25

Total       6,497               391
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Capital Works - cont.

Commercial Products and Services

This program provides for the research and development of new products and services and the continual improvement of online business initiatives to meet government 
and community needs.  The primary activities of this program include developing web-enabled products, improving service delivery of key business solutions and extending 
mapping products to the commercial, private and government sectors. Through alliances with Curtin University and the Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information 
the program has funded a range of projects from improvements in multi-satellite data collection to new spatial decisions in urban planning.  

Asset Replacement

This program provides for the ongoing replacement and upgrade of Landgate’s facilities, including various information technology assets, accommodation and third party 
software systems up to current standards.

Business Infrastructure

This program improves efficiency and increases capacity of the business support systems that underpin Landgate’s operations.  It includes hardware, software and 
networks to allow improvement to customer and staff access, greater response and better functionality through automation, security and monitoring. Landgate is continuing 
to upgrade its existing server environment to a new commodity server environment, which will provide major system performance and stability improvements.

Business Reform Initiatives

This program provides for the development of core functions and data to meet an increased demand for integrated services and technological change. It will deliver 
operational efficiencies through process automation and redesign, and position Landgate to supply a range of new commercial, best practice ‘end to end’ services and 
integrated or bundled solutions. Currently the major project within this program is the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS), which was established by the 
Council of Australian Governments to deliver a seamless national economy. 
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Governance Disclosures

An insurance premium for the period 1 March 2011 to 1 March 2012, totalling $16,071, was paid to indemnify 
Landgate’s Directors against liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of 
Directors) Act 1996

Act of Grace Payments made from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012

Act of Grace Payments were for the replacement of duplicate Certificates of Title lost, damaged or destroyed 
due to an eligible natural disaster event.

Corporate Governance Framework

During 2012, the Audit and Risk Management Branch reviewed how well Landgate addressed the nine principles 
of the Good Governance Framework, issued by the Public Sector Commission. The review concluded that 
Landgate’s compliance and corporate governance practices were being managed effectively and adhered to the 
Good Governance Framework principles.

Aerial Photography - Map Viewer
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Other Legal Requirements

Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes; Equal Opportunity Outcomes and Occupational Safety and Injury Management

For information on Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes; Equal Opportunity Outcomes and Occupational Safety and Injury Management see Appendix Three.

Equal Opportunity Outcomes

For information on Equal Opportunity Outcomes see Appendix Four.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 

For information on Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management see Appendix Five.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

(Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1) 

For information on Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes (Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1) see Appendix Six.

Advertising Information

For information on Advertising see Appendix Seven.

Recordkeeping Plans

For information on Recordkeeping Plans see Appendix Eight.
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Other Legal Requirements - cont.

Information Statement

The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides a legal right of access to documents held by all state and local government agencies.  This Annual Report 
serves the purpose as an Information Statement to meet the requirements of Part 5 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992. 

Freedom of Information Applications for 2010/11

Fifteen valid applications were received for the year seeking access to non-personal information, with six applications for internal review lodged. Statistics regarding 2011/12 
applications are provided in the Information Commissioner’s Annual Report at www.foi.wa.gov.au.

Information Enquiries

Often material is available without the need to formalise a request using Freedom of Information processes.  Requests to access information are first directed to Customer 
Service Officers where a formal FOI application is required if documents are not available as part of normal services or course of business.

Receipt of FOI Applications

FOI applications, payments, correspondence and general enquiries should be directed to:

FOI Coordinator
Landgate
PO Box 2222
Midland   WA   6936
Telephone (08) 9273 7565
Facsimile (08) 9273 7666.

FOI application forms are available from the Authority’s website at http://www.landgate.wa.gov.au/ or from the FOI Coordinator.
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Other Legal Requirements - cont.

Fees and Charges

The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI Act. 

Application fee for non-personal information is $30.00.  There are no fees for applications for personal information about the applicant. »

Charges for dealing with the application are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for supervising inspection of documents are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for photocopying are $30.00 per hour for staff time and 20¢ per copy. »

Charges for time taken by staff transcribing information from a tape or other device are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer information will be the actual cost. »

Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will be the actual cost.  »

Processing Applications

The coordination and assessment of FOI applications is centralised, with decentralised decision making.  Initial decisions are generally made by the manager responsible 
for the issue in question, due to their knowledge of the activities and information involved.  The internal review process is conducted by the Legal Services team.
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Other Legal Requirements - cont.

Notice of Decision

Applicants are provided with written notice of the Authority’s decision, including:

the date of the decision. »

the name and designation of the decision-maker. »

the reasons for deleting any matter. »

the reasons for deferring access. »

arrangements for giving access. »

the reasons for refusing access to any matter. »

the amount and basis for any charges levied; and »

the rights of review and procedures to be followed. »

Review Rights

If an applicant or third party is aggrieved with a decision they have the right to submit a written request for a review of that decision.  The request for a review must be 
lodged within 30 days of notice of the original decision.  The review is conducted by a person other than the person who made the original decision, is not subordinate to 
that person, and is usually a person from the Legal Services team.

The agency must respond with a written notice of decision within 15 days of receiving a request for a review.  There is no lodgement fee payable for internal reviews.  If 
the applicant or third party is still aggrieved they may lodge a written complaint to the Office of the Information Commissioner within 60 days following the internal review 
decision (30 days for third parties).  The Commissioner’s decision is final, unless an appeal is made to the Supreme Court on a question of law.
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Other Legal Requirements - cont.

Amendment of Personal Information

Personal information held on public registers the organisation is responsible for maintaining, such as the 
Land Title Registers maintained under the Transfer of Land Act 1893, may be amended in accordance with 
processes prescribed by the enabling legislation.

To ensure the agency does not unfairly harm the person referred to, misrepresents facts about them, or does 
not give a misleading impression other personal information held by the organisation may be amended by 
application to the FOI Coordinator.  Applicants must provide details and, if necessary, documentation in 
support of their claim to amend inaccurate, incomplete, out of date or misleading information.

Earth is Art - Kimbolton’s Reach
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Legislation Administered

Enabling Legislation

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 establishes a Statutory Authority to administer certain land information and provide and promote the use of this information and 
related goods and services. The Authority is an agent of the State.

Legislation Administered 

The Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) is responsible for the administration of numerous Acts of Parliament relating to land.  Those most directly 
affecting the Authority’s daily business activities are: 

Transfer of Land Act 18931.  – establishes the Torrens System of registering freehold tenure, transactions and interests over land;

Valuation of Land Act 19782.  – provides for the valuation of land for rating and taxing purposes, the statutory office holder of Valuer-General, establishment of the 
valuation roll and other purposes;

Licensed Surveyors Act 19093.  – provides for the registration, licensing and practice of land surveyors, the making of authorised surveys and establishment of the Land 
Surveyors Licensing Board; 

Strata Titles Act 19854.  – provides for the horizontal and vertical subdivision of freehold land under the Transfer of Land Act 1893 and for the management of strata 
schemes;

Registration of Deeds Act 18565.  – establishes a system of registering conveyances, wills and other deeds affecting land other than Crown Land and land under the 
Transfer of Land Act 1893;

Standard Survey Marks Act 19246.  – provides for the making of standard surveys and establishment of standard survey marks; and

Sale of Land Act 19707.  – consolidates and amends the law relating to the sale of land.

appendix one appendix eightappendix threeappendix two appendix four appendix five appendix six appendix seven
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Legislation Administered - cont

Legislation affecting Landgate’s activities

In carrying out its functions and powers, Landgate is affected by more than 100 different Acts administered by other departments or agencies.  Some of the most 
significant of these are:

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972

Auditor General Act 2006

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1998

Carbon Rights Act 2003

Civil Judgments Enforcement Act 2004

Conservation and Land Management Act 1984

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) – KW to follow up please

Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000

Duties Act 2008

Evidence Act 1906

Forest Products Act 2000

Guardianship and Administration Act 1990

Indian Ocean Territories (Administration of Laws) Act 1992

Land Administration Act 1997

Limitation Act 2005 

Local Government Act 1995

Magistrates Court Act 2004

Native Title (State Provisions) Act 1999

Native Title Act (Commonwealth) 1993

Oaths Affidavits and Statutory Declarations Act 2005

Planning and Development Act 2005

Stamp Act 1921

Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003
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Appendix One - cont.

Legislation Administered - cont

In the performance of its obligations as a Government Authority, Landgate complies with the following Acts:

A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax Act) 1999

Auditor General Act 2006

Competition and Consumer Act 2010

Competition Policy Reform (Western Australia) Act 1996

Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

Disability Services Act 1993

Duties Act 2008

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Fair Trading Act 2010

Financial Management Act 2006

Financial Management (Transitional Provisions) Act 2006

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act 1986

Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000

Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)

Income Tax Assessment Act 1997

Income Tax Act 1986

Income Tax Rates Act 1986

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Land Tax Assessment Act 2002

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

Payroll Tax Assessment Act 2002
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Appendix One - cont.

Legislation Administered - cont

Payroll Tax Act 2002

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

Public Sector Management Act 1994 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

State Enterprises (Commonwealth Tax Equivalents) Act 1996

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

State Records Act 2000

Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996

State Trading Concerns Act 1916

Taxation Administration Act 2003

Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Strata Titles Reforms

The Strata Titles Act 1985 (STA) regulates the creation of strata lots and the operation and management of strata schemes. As such, it is important legislation for Western 
Australia. This is recognised in two recent reviews of the legislation.
 
In the first review, the Community Titles Advisory Committee, a ministerial advisory committee, proposed a number of changes to the STA to improve the operations 
and management of strata schemes. These included the recognition of strata managers and improved appeal provisions. A Bill to give effect to these proposals is being 
drafted.
 
In a second, complementary review, the Tenure Legislation Review Committee, comprising industry, Government and community representatives, has formulated 
legislative proposals to expand the range of strata tenure options and allow for different strata tenures and land uses to be combined within the same strata scheme. The 
reforms aim to make WA more attractive for strata title developments and to encourage more investment in innovative, sustainable and affordable strata products. The 
proposals are expected to be finalised in the first half of 2011/12 before being submitted to the Minister for Lands.
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Appendix Two

Corporate Governance

From a governance perspective, Landgate operates under a number of international and Australian standards, Acts, Treasurers Instructions and Best Practice guidelines: 

Risk Management ISO 31000:2009 »

Business Continuity Management HB 221-2004 »

Good Governance Principles AS 8000-2003 »

Quality Management System ISO 9001:2008 »

Auditor General Act 2006 »

Financial Administration Bookcase – Treasurers Instructions (Dept of Treasury) »

Institute of Internal Auditors Standards (Australia) »

The Audit & Risk Management Branch focuses on risk management which allows for consideration of risk, compliance and business continuity.  Recent activities include:

Ongoing awareness of compliance requirements through the Compliance Coordinator’s continued engagement with all areas of the business. »

Continued expansion of the risk management framework including reviewing of existing registers and supporting other risk activities. »

Establishment of an offsite critical systems recovery location. »

Continued internal audit engagement in information technology, operational activities and selected compliance requirements. »

Whilst the Audit & Risk Management Branch continues to operate within a ‘Value Add’ mindset, the branch also has clear independence through direct reporting to the 
Board of Management’s Audit & Risk Management Committee – established under the WA Land Information Authority (WALIA) Act (2006).

During 2011/2012 Internal Audit undertook in excess of 10 operational and information technology (IT) audits including:

Annual occupational safety & health audit »

Budget and re-forecasting »

Licence conditions and royalties »

IT change management »

IT corporate security »

Review of selected projects »
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Appendix Three

Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

(Disability Services Act 1993 S29)

Landgate’s 2006-2011 Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) provides a framework for the identification of areas where access and inclusion can be improved. It 
also informs the development of strategies to facilitate the design and implementation of projects in response to the 7 Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes. An annual 
progress report is presented to the Department for Disability Services (DSC) in July of each year which ensures that Landgate’s five year plan is monitored and compliant 
in accordance with the Disability Services Act 1993.

People with disabilities have access to the services of, and any events organised by a public authority. 1. 

Due to improvements to our public access, people with disabilities are able to access all Landgate’s planned events and activities. The provision of visitor facilities is 
inclusive of services suitable for use by all members of the community including seniors and people with physical and intellectual disabilities. 

People with disabilities have access to the buildings and other facilities of a public authority.  2. 

The Landgate building is equipped with;

Ramps. »

Strategically placed automatic door openers throughout the building to improve access for staff and customers with disabilities. »

A disability access toilet for use by the public; and  »

Wheelchair and hearing impaired assistance services at the Midland Customer Centre. »

Landgate has continued to successfully acquire funds from the federal government for workplace modifications to ensure people with disabilities have equal 
opportunity to access the Landgate building, facilities and services. 
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appendix three

Appendix Three - cont.

Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

(Disability Services Act 1993 S29) - cont.

People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that will enable them to access information.3. 

Information about Landgate’s services is readily accessible via various mechanisms including;
Face to face contact. »

Telephone. »

Teletypewriter (TTY). »

Internet, Facebook, Twitter. »

Email. »

A substantial pool of interpreters within the customer service area to translate for Landgate customers. »

Alternative formats on request. »

Landgate’s web services, designed to W3C standards. »

People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of a public authority.4. 

A key platform for inclusion at Landgate is the development and recent endorsement of the Landgate Workforce & Diversity Plan 2012-2015 and its aligning action 
plan designed to assist and identify current and future workforce requirements while integrating equal employment opportunity and diversity components. This plan 
includes the Landgate Diversity Framework of which one of the key components is education. The framework is aimed at creating an environment which celebrates 
diversity and is free from all forms of discrimination and harassment.

Awareness training is available for Landgate staff to enable an understanding of people with disabilities and this assists in creating excellent customer service to the 
public.  Information about this training is provided during staff inductions and is broadcast to staff via internal emails on a regular basis.

The Landgate DAIP and Diversity Framework have been incorporated into the Staff Consultative Committee (SCC) agenda to facilitate a forum for continual 
discussion regarding the need for training and awareness in these areas of community responsibility. The SCC includes a diversity of representatives including 
disabilities to ensure a focus is maintained in this area.
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Appendix Three - cont.

Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

(Disability Services Act 1993 S29) - cont.

People with disabilities have equal opportunity to make complaints to a public authority. 5. 

Landgate’s complaints management system and its feedback mechanisms are accessible to all customers and are available through all contact mediums and 
mechanisms outlined in outcome 3.

People with disabilities have equal opportunity to participate in any public consultation by a public authority.6. 

People with disabilities can participate in public consultation through accessing Landgate’s services through a number of means as outlined at item 3.

People with disabilities have the same access as other people to employment opportunities with Landgate.7. 

Currently 4.5% of Landgate staff is people with disabilities which have increased from 3.5% since December 2011. Landgate will continue to learn and apply 
innovative strategies to improve the attraction, recruitment and retention of employees with a view to attracting an even more diverse workforce which will lead to 
a greater percentage of staff with disabilities. This will be supported by the development and endorsement of the Landgate Workforce & Diversity Plan 2012-2015, 
which is a key platform for inclusion in the agency. Identifying gaps in policy, service provision and operational processes will enhance opportunities for a wider 
representation of staff.

Landgate has continued to successfully acquire funds from the federal government for workplace modifications which ensures people with disabilities the same 
opportunities as other staff. Delivery of mental health first aid and workplace deaf awareness has raised awareness about workplace disability through brain injury as 
well as other non-visible disabilities.

Landgate continues to successfully source funding to provide Auslan interpreters for deaf employees to ensure access to information, training, interviews and 
succession opportunities.
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Appendix Four

Equal Opportunity Outcomes

Diversity Progress Report - Representation

Landgate’s Women in Management 2011/2012

Landgate’s Workforce Diversity 2011/2012

This information shows the diversity of Landgate employees against other state sectors. The equity index compares the distribution of a diversity group in the workforce 
to the distribution of the workforce as a whole. If the group has a similar distribution across all ranges as the total workforce the equity index is 100. An equity index of less 
than 100 indicates compression of the group at the lower salary ranges. An equity index of more than 100 indicates compression of the group at the higher salary ranges. 
However as most responses rely on voluntary self nomination, it is likely that the information gathered is under representative of these diversity groups in Landgate.

appendix four

Women in Management Landgate Representation (%)

Distribution (Equity Index) 70

Management Tier 1 0

Management Tier 2 38.9

Management Tier 3 52.3

Management Tier 2 & 3 Combined 45.3

Diversity Group
Landgate  

Representation (%) Equity Index

People from Culturally Diverse Background 16.7 80

Indigenous Australians 1.4 NA

People with Disabilities 4.5 90

Youth (<25) 4.8 18.5
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Appendix Four - cont.

Diversity Progress Report - Representation - cont.

Employee Representation by Division (%)

Employee Representation by % of Employment Status

Business Unit 2011/2012 % of Employees

Office of the Chief Executive 2

Strategy & Reform 6

Operations 56.9

Finance Information and Legal Services 20.1

Business Development 2

Sales Directorate 13

Employee by Employee Status 2011/2012 % of Employees

Full – Time 86.8

Part – Time 13.2

Casual <1

Permanent 94.8

Fixed Term Contract 5.2
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Appendix Five

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Landgate is dedicated to taking all reasonable precautions to provide and maintain an environment that is safe and without health risks to its employees, contractors and 
visitors. This commitment is articulated in Landgate’s Occupational Safety and Health Policy Statement, endorsed by the Chief Executive and Corporate Executive and 
proudly displayed in prominent locations throughout all Landgate workplaces.

Landgate is committed to ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for all employees, contractors and visitors by:

Nurturing the continuous improvement of workplace safety, health conditions and culture; »

Acknowledging and accepting a shared responsibility for the safety and health of all persons who may be affected by Landgate’s activities; »

Promoting a consultative environment that will resolve issues while proactively developing and improving occupational safety and health (OSH) systems in the  »
workplace;

Providing and maintaining workplaces and systems of work so (as far as practicable) people are not exposed to hazards; »

Providing appropriate financial, physical and human resources to ensure effective implementation, maintenance and improvement of OSH systems; and »

Supporting OSH performance based objectives and targets to continuously improve and eliminate work-related illness and injury. »

Landgate’s OSH policy is supported by the Landgate OSH Guidance Manual, a comprehensive guidance manual which describes how the business may meet its OSH 
commitments. The manual documents Landgate’s safety management systems, roles, responsibilities and, processes as well as providing general information and 
guidance on the management of safety risks.

In the unfortunate event that an injury does occur, Landgate is committed to providing confidential, equitable and timely management of employee injuries and illnesses, 
in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and WorkCover WA guidelines for injury management. The Agency provides an internal 
workplace-based injury management and advisory service via the Human Resources specialist for OSH whom holds specific injury management qualifications. The 
service is available to any employee who suffers a work-related injury or illness and, where applicable, to employees who suffer a non-work related injury or illness which 
may be impacted by or upon their work.
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Appendix Five - cont.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management - cont.

A human resources OSH specialist is employed by Landgate and holds specific injury management qualifications.  This ensures specialist service to any employee who 
suffers a work-related injury or illness and where applicable, to employees who suffer a non-work related injury or illness which may be impacted by or upon their work.

Landgate aims through the development and implementation of an effective safety management system in accordance with AS/NZS 4801:2001 Occupational Health and 
Safety Management Systems specification to proactively identify and eliminate hazards at the source and to exceed the safety indicator targets specified in the Public 
Sector Commissioners Circular 2009-11.

Key performance indicators and tolerance limits have been set for time lost due to injury in a manner that indicates prevalence and seriousness of work related illness 
and injury as well as the effectiveness of injury management and return to work systems. These indicators are reported and reviewed by the Corporate Executive on a 
quarterly basis. In addition, a detailed report on incident and workers compensation performance data is available to all managers and OSH representatives on the nature 
of all incidents arising.

Landgate has established a scheme for OSH representation in accordance with section 30 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. OSH Representatives, 
nominated and elected via a formal democratic process, represent groupings of employees formed in consideration to location, job role and corporate structure. Details 
of the various workgroups and representatives are provided to employees via a flier, maintained by the HR Specialist – OSH and are displayed throughout the workplace 
and available via dedicated OSH pages on the staff intranet. OSH representatives are available to all members of their workgroups to consult and liaise, report safety 
concerns, and provide representation on safety and health matters.

Landgate’s OSH Committee consists of both management and employee representatives. Members of the committee include OSH representatives from each of the 
defined workgroups along with employer representatives from Audit and Risk Management, Facilities and Records Management, Customer Service and field worker 
managers alongside a nominated General Manager and the HR Specialist - OSH. The Committee meets on a six weekly basis or when required. It provides a mechanism 
for developing safety systems, policies and procedures and for discussion of safety issues that have a significant impact on the organisation. OSH Initiatives, policy 
and guidance developed or recommended by the OSH Committee are also referred to broader employee/employer consultative groups including the Joint Consultative 
Council, Staff Consultative Council, First Aid Officers, Peer Support Officers and Emergency Wardens. OSH committee meeting minutes are available to all employees via 
the staff intranet. Committee members, Corporate Executive and senior managers are notified when they are posted.
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appendix five

Appendix Five - cont.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management - cont.

Landgate’s Injury Management Policy and associated process has been established to document the Authority’s policy and procedures in relation to the management 
of both work related and non-work related employee illness and injury. The policy and its associated procedures contribute towards compliance with the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA), Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (WA) and the WorkCover WA Guidelines for Injury Management. The 
policy and process is available to all employees via the policy register accessible from the staff intranet. Landgate’s HR Specialist – OSH holds formal qualifications in the 
coordination of injury management, acts as a primary contact and oversees the establishment, coordination and monitoring of formal return to work or injury management 
plans, in accordance with the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and the Landgate Policy and Process.

Landgate recognises the benefits of a continuous improvement to the OSH management system based upon best practice standards. The Authority also recognises 
that an integral part of continuous improvement OSH management systems is a comprehensive ongoing auditing process. In 2011/12 Landgate developed a set of 
OSH auditing guidelines, residing within its OSH guidance manual. The guidelines describe our commitment to; theory and process surrounding; various types of 
internal, external and cross auditing. These range from periodical workplace hazard inspections and annual legislative and procedural compliance audits to 5 yearly 
comprehensive safety management system audits. 

In December 2010 Landgate engaged the services of an external accredited consultancy to perform a thorough independent audit of its safety management system to 
the requirements of AS 4801:2000, AS4804:2000 and best practice safety standards. The audit scope was aligned to WA’s WorkSafe Plan, WorkSafe Victoria’s SafetyMap 
and ComCare’s National Audit tools. Landgate welcomes the audit findings as a basis for further development of its OSH management system.

The 2010 safety management system audit identified some opportunities for improvement. As a result Landgate has;

Conducted a series of OSH risk management educational workshops to ensure a common understanding of its OSH risks across all areas and levels of management. »

Undertaken to incorporate and enhance OSH aspects of its organisational risk register and developed OSH management action plans, utilising information gained  »
through OSH risk management workshops and the findings of external and internal safety audits.

Clearly defined OSH roles, responsibilities and accountabilities for individual positions, management levels and job roles, articulated within its OSH guidance manual. »

Employed a Legislative Compliance Officer and developed an OSH Legislative Compliance Framework. »

Implemented an electronic competency based training package for its managers and supervisors in their OSH and injury management responsibilities »

Begun development of an integrated electronic performance monitoring and development system which will include OSH performance indicators and targets,  »
initiatives and education. Landgate plans to commence implementation of the system from July of 2012

Developed a set of key performance indicators for executive management reporting and oversight »

Increased the prominence and level of human resources dedicated to OSH management »
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appendix five

Appendix Five - cont.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management - cont.

A further safety management system audit is scheduled to commence in late 2015.

Training provided to managers and supervisors in their OSH and injury management responsibilities during 2009/10 took the form of educational workshops facilitated 
by a nationally recognised training organisation. Course material was adapted from several nationally recognised units and internal training packages in order to meet 
Landgate’s specific needs. In 2010/11 Landgate introduced an electronic training solution. The provision of electronic training options was a significant step forward 
which continued throughout 2011/12 and into the foreseeable future. This training forms part of Landgate’s commitment to improving the knowledge and skills of its 
employees. All Landgate employee’s in a supervisory role with responsibility for the provision of workplace facilities, or who may influence decisions likely to affect work 
safety are enrolled into the course. Those who are likely to act in such a role or wish to progress towards a position of management responsibility are also encouraged to 
participate.

Actual Results Results Against Target

Measure 2010/2011 2011/2012 2011/2012 Target Comment on result

Number of Fatalities 0* 0* 0 Landgate continues to per-
form well in the prevention 
and management of work 
related injury.

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 0.21* 0.11*  ≤ 0.19

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 0* 0* 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to work: Only 3 lost time incidents, 
with a total of 9 days lost, 
have occurred over the past 
3 years.

(i) within 13 weeks 100%* 100%* ≥ 80%

(ii) within 26 weeks 100%* 100%* ≥ 80%

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, health and injury management 
responsibilities 57% 73% ≥ 80% 

124 managers completed 
training in the 2011/12 
financial year 
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Appendix Six

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

Public Sector Management act 1994, S31 (1)

Human Resource Management Standards, Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes Compliance Statement.

Statement of Compliance issues and actions during 2011/12

Landgate is committed to upholding the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and Landgate’s 
Code of Conduct. We strive to reflect our values of community, creativity, celebration, sustainability, growth and learning and excellence in all that we do.

Public Sector Standards

All recruitment and selection decisions are reviewed by independent officers to ensure compliance. »

Landgate runs regular training courses in areas such as recruitment and selection and grievance management to ensure that Landgate officers are aware of their  »
obligations.

Landgate’s Human Resource Business Partners work closely with the Units for education around the revisions to Public Sector Standards, Commissioner’s  »
Instructions, and the changing nature of the Public Sector Management Act.

Landgate fosters an environment where staff is comfortable talking about the standards and where decisions are fair and equitable and capable of review. »

4 Breach of Standards claims were lodged and resolved during 2011/12 »
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appendix six

Appendix Six - cont.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

Public Sector Management act 1994, S31 (1) - cont.

Ethics and Landgate’s Code of Conduct

The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are readily available on Landgate’s intranet. »

The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are made available and discussed during induction sessions for new employees. »

Staff are reminded of key ethical issues on a regular basis through the intranet, induction courses and workshops. »

85.7% of Landgate staff has taken part in the Ethical and Accountable Decision-Making Workshops held throughout 2011/12 as continued from the previous financial  »
year.

Three suspected breaches of discipline were received during 2011/12, tow are ongoing, one ceased due to resignation. »

Mike Bradford
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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appendix eight

Appendix Seven

Advertising (Market Research, Polling Direct Mail, Media and Recruitment Advertising)

The Electoral Act 1907 – section 175ZE In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Western Australian Land Information Authority incurred the 
following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.

1. Total expenditure for 2011/12 was $561,806.47
2. The expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Advertising Agencies 117,601.98

Mitchell & Partners Australia Pty Ltd  117,601.98

Market Research Organisations 371,118.99

Painted Dog Research Pty Ltd  371,118.99

Graphic Design organisations 30,126.00

Crush 26,646.00

Cameron McDiven 3,480.00

Media Advertising & Planning Organisations 18,987.40

Big Head Digital 16,858.00

Captivate Global 2,129.40
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Sponsorship

Curtin University Partnership

Spatial Sciences Studio
Landgate has had an ongoing partnership with Curtin University since 2007, to collaborate for the purpose of developing and promoting education and research in the 
geographic information science, surveying and cartography (the Spatial sciences Field).  The key objectives include the development of a Spatial Sciences Studio; foster 
develop and promote various educational initiatives; improve education and employment opportunities for students in the Spatial Sciences Field.

Bursary
Landgate funds a student bursary in Spatial Sciences which is determined annually.  Eligible students are enrolled in the Bachelor of Science (Cartography) or Bachelor of 
Science (Geographic Information Science), in either a single or a double degree at Curtin University, and are in the final year of their program.

Professorial Appointment
This is a joint arrangement by Landgate and Curtin University, for a Professorial Research Appointment to act as a focus for Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
expertise. The position is responsible for new activities aimed at meeting IT and GIS functionality demands.

Appendix Seven - cont.

Advertising (Market Research, Polling Direct Mail, Media and Recruitment Advertising) - cont.

Digital Advertising Organisations 22,841.40

Get Results Online 12,000.00

Google Ireland 8,000.00

Longtail Communications Pty Ltd 2,841.40

Recruitment Advertising 1,130.70

Adcorp 1,130.70
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Appendix Eight

Recordkeeping Plans

Landgate’s Recordkeeping Plan 2009, required under the State Records Act 2000 s19 was renewed by the State Records Commission on 7 April 2010 for a period of five years.  
The following information is provided as required by State Records Commission Standard 2 – Principle 6 – Compliance.

The efficiency and effectiveness of recordkeeping systems were reviewed during the development of the Recordkeeping Plan 2009, noting no significant changes to physical 
recordkeeping processes.

Landgate has been implementing an electronic document and records management system (eDRMS) since 2008.  Naming conventions, record types, security model, and role 
based access have been developed, progressing Landgate’s compliance with the management and control of electronic records.

The past year saw further isolated information collections and data sets assimilated with the eDRMS, with a fourth business area becoming eDRMS users.  The role out of the 
eDRMS includes establishing ‘Records Super-users’ within business areas who are comprehensively trained in the eDRMS and underlying records business rules, standards and 
processes.  Training in the use of the corporate records management system itself continues to be provided on an as needs basis.

Online recordkeeping awareness training was introduced in May 2005.  This training provides awareness of Landgate’s recordkeeping policies, principles and issues.  It also details 
what is required from Landgate individuals to comply with the requirements of Landgate’s Recordkeeping Plan.

The on-line recordkeeping awareness training forms part of Landgate’s induction process.  All individuals new to Landgate are required to complete the course within two months 
of enrolment, including individuals from significant contracted service providers.  Training content was reviewed and is still relevant and effective with imparting Landgate’s 
recordkeeping requirements and needs to Landgate individuals.

Over 1,550 individuals have been enrolled with 96% of active enrolled participants successfully completing their induction training.

Information Statement
The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides a legal right of access to documents held by all state and local government agencies.  This Annual Report 
serves the purpose as an Information Statement to meet the requirements of Part 5 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992.  

Freedom of Information Applications for 2011/12
Fifteen valid applications were received for the year seeking access to non-personal information, with six applications for internal review lodged.  Statistics regarding 2011/12 
applications are provided in the Information Commissioner’s Annual Report at www.foi.wa.gov.au.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2012 214L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

appendix eightappendix one appendix threeappendix two appendix four appendix five appendix six appendix seven

Appendix Eight - cont.

Recordkeeping Plans - cont.

Information Enquiries
Often material is available without the need to formalise a request using Freedom of Information processes.  Requests to access information are first directed to Customer 
Service Officers where a formal FOI application is required if documents are not available as part of normal services or course of business.

Receipt of FOI Applications
FOI applications, payments, correspondence and general enquiries should be directed to:

FOI Coordinator,
Landgate
PO Box 2222,
Midland WA 6936;
Telephone (08) 9273 7565
Facsimile (08) 9273 7666.

FOI application forms are available from the agency’s website at http://www.landgate.wa.gov.au/ or from the FOI Coordinator.

Fees and Charges
The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI Act. 

Application fee for non-personal information is $30.00.  There are no fees for applications for personal information about the applicant. »

Charges for dealing with the application are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for supervising inspection of documents are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for photocopying are $30.00 per hour for staff time and 20¢ per copy. »

Charges for time taken by staff transcribing information from a tape or other device are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour. »

Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer information will be the actual cost. »

Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will be the actual cost. »
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Appendix Eight - cont.

Recordkeeping Plans - cont.

Processing Applications
The coordination and assessment of FOI applications is centralised, with decentralised decision making.  Initial decisions are generally made by the relevant business 
manager or information set owner due to their knowledge of the activities and information involved.  The internal review process is conducted by the Legal Services team.

Notice of Decision
Applicants are provided with written notice of the organisation’s decision, including:

the date of the decision. »

the name and designation of the decision-maker. »

the reasons for deleting any matter. »

the reasons for deferring access. »

arrangements for giving access. »

the reasons for refusing access to any matter. »

the amount and basis for any charges levied; and »

the rights of review and procedures to be followed. »

Review Rights
If an applicant or third party is aggrieved with a decision they have the right to submit a written request for a review of that decision.  The request for a review must be 
lodged within 30 days of notice of the original decision.  The review is conducted by a person other than the person who made the original decision, is not subordinate to 
that person, and is usually a person from the Legal Services team.

The agency must respond with a written notice of decision within 15 days of receiving a request for a review.  There is no lodgement fee payable for internal reviews.  If 
the applicant or third party is still aggrieved they may lodge a written complaint to the Office of the Information Commissioner within 60 days following the internal review 
decision (30 days for third parties).  The Commissioner’s decision is final, unless an appeal is made to the Supreme Court on a question of law.

appendix eightappendix one appendix threeappendix two appendix four appendix five appendix six appendix seven
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